

Ordinary Council Meeting MINUTES Tuesday 27 September 2022



INDEX

1.	Official Opening	4
2.	Attendance, Apologies and Leave of Absence Previously Approved	
3.	Public Question Time	
4. -	Petitions/Deputations	
5.	Applications for Leave of Absence	
6. 7.	Confirmation of Minutes from Previous Meeting Announcements by the Member Presiding Without Discussion	
7. 8.	Matters for Which the Meeting may be Closed	
9.	Disclosure of Interest	
10.	Reports to Council	11
	10.1. Development Services Reports	
	10.1.1. Review of Council Policy Service 11 - Trading on Thoroughfares or Public Places - Permit Conditions	
	10.1.2. Local Planning Scheme No.3 - Scheme Amendment 110: Forrestfield/High Wycombe Light Industrial Area Stage 1 Development Contribution Arrangement: Extension of Time	
	10.2. Asset Services Reports	
	10.3. Corporate Services Reports 10.3.1. Tonkin Highway Grade Separation - Dedication of Land as Road	
	10.3.2. Land Acquisition - Portion of Lot 1499 (71) Stirling Crescent, High Wycombe	
	10.4. Office of the CEO Reports	
	10.4.1. Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield - Shared Seasonal Lease	
	10.4.2. State Government Grant Applications - Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund and Club Night Light Program	60
	10.5. Chief Executive Officer Reports	73
	10.5.1. Draft Monthly Financial Statements to 31August 2022	73
	10.5.2. Debtors and Creditors Report for the period ended 31 August 2022	80
	10.5.3. Rates Debtors Report for the Period Ended 31 August 2022	86
	10.5.4. Kalamunda Hills Natural Attraction Strategy	91
	10.6. Audit & Risk Committee 30 August 2022 10.6.1. Audit & Risk Committee Recommendations to Council	
	10.6.2. A&R9.3.1 External Audit - Interim Findings for the year ending 30 June 2022	99
	10.6.3. A&R9.3.2 Internal Audit Report August 2022	100
	10.6.4. A&R9.3.3 City of Kalamunda Risk Profile	
	10.6.5. A&R9.4.1 Council Policies - Proposed Amendments August 2022	100
	10.7. Chief Executive Officer's Performance Review Committee 20 September 2022	101

10.7.1. Chief Executive Officer's Performance Review Committee Recommendatior	is to
Council	101
10.7.2. CEOPR6.1.1 CEO Performance Report for the year 2021/2022	101
10.7.3. CEOPR6.1.2 CEO Performance Criteria 2022/2023	102
10.7.4. CEOPR6.1.3 CEO Salary Review 2022	102
11. Motions of Which Previous Notice has been Given	103
12. Questions by Members Without Notice	103
13. Questions by Members of Which Due Notice has been Given	103
14. Urgent Business Approved by the Presiding Member or by Decision	103
15. Meeting Closed to the Public	103
16. Tabled Documents	104
17. Closure	104

1. Official Opening

The Presiding Member opened the meeting at 6:31pm and welcomed Councillors, Staff and Members of the Public Gallery. The Presiding Member also acknowledged the Traditional Owners of the land on which we meet the Whadjuk Noongar people.

2. Attendance, Apologies and Leave of Absence Previously Approved

Councillors

South East Ward Geoff Stallard South West Ward Mary Cannon Kellie Miskiewicz Brooke O'Donnell North West Ward

Sue Bilich Lisa Cooper Dylan O'Connor

North Ward

Andrew Osenton Kathy Ritchie Margaret Thomas JP (Mayor) Presiding Member

Members of Staff

Chief Executive Officer

Rhonda Hardy

Executive Team

Gary Ticehurst - Director Corporate Services Brett Jackson - Director Asset Services Mitchell Brooks - A/Director Development Services

Management Team

Chris Thompson - Manager Asset & Waste Operations Cameron Chisholm - A/Manager Environmental Health & Community Safety

Darren Jones - Manager Community Development Mandy Skeates - Manager Economic & Cultural Services Nicole O'Neill - Manager Customer & Public Relations Nic Daxter - Leisure Planning Project Manager

Administration Support

Darrell Forrest - Governance Advisor Donna McPherson - Executive Assistant to the CEO

Members of the Public 45

Members of the Press 1.

Apologies

Cr John Giardina Cr Janelle Sewell Peter Varelis - Director Development Services

Leave of Absence Previously Approved Nil

3. Public Question Time

3.1. Questions Taken on Notice at Previous Meeting

- 3.1.1 David Downing (Taken on Notice at Public Agenda Briefing 13 September 2022)
- Q1. Does the City intend to undertake the mandated 5 year review of the scheme?
- A3. Schedule 12 of Local Planning Scheme(LPS)3 provides for a review to occur of the Development Contribution Plan (DCP) within 5 years of adoption, or the previous review. A comprehensive review of the DCP occurred in 2016/17, resulting in a range of modifications to the infrastructure items listed in Schedule 12.

It should be noted that the rate of development and the degree of development potential existing is considered as part of the annual review process, together with estimated costs of infrastructure. Amendment 110 forms a product of the ongoing review process. This, together with the considerations as part of the annual review, is considered to satisfy the review requirements of LPS 3. There are no further changes to infrastructure items included or other components of the DCP proposed.

3.2. Public Question Time

- 3.2.1 <u>Michael Ryan- High Wycombe (A preamble was provided to these</u> <u>questions)</u>
- Q1. Who received letters about Amendment No 48 to Local Planning Scheme No 3 and the dates of the letters.

- Q2 What did that document say, especially about fabrication businesses and any noise risk.
- Q3. What did the public advertising say about fabrication businesses and any noise risk.
- Q4. Did the EPA, WAPC or DPLH raise any questions about noise.
- 3.2.2 <u>Michael Ryan- High Wycombe (A preamble was provided to these</u> <u>questions)</u>

SPP 4.1 July 2022 and the AMENDED LSP FOR HIGH WYCOMBE SOUTH

- Q1. Will the City please advise the WAPC, that the City supports a Light Industry zone should the WAPC make this change to this LSP, or
- Q2. Will the City announce that it will redo the Amended LSP for High Wycombe South to comply with SPP 4.1 and include the Light Industry zone along the central part of Sultana Road West, or
- Q3. If the City won't do either, then can the City obtain legal advice about how it needs to react to SPP 4.1 in respect to the subject land, and to treat us fairly, and to provide us with a copy of the Opinion before we present our deputations, or
- Q4. Other options mutually agreed to by WAPC, City of Kalamunda and the affected landowners along the central part of Sultana Road West.
- 3.2.3 John Boggard
- Q1. Can the City confirm its policy on the level of financial investment by all clubs for significant infrastructure upgrades?
- A1. Taken on Notice
- Q2. A requirement of the Clubs Night Lights programs was for clubs to hold a lease. Given that the decision on Item 10.4.1 impacts the Kalamunda & Districts Hockey Club lease does the club expect the the club to deliver on the \$120,000 contribution.
- A2. The Kalamunda & Districts Hockey Club lease is currently on holding over until a new lease agreement is arranged and struck. There is no affect on the application.
- Q3. Should a seasonal lease be adopted on this facility will the City modify the budget to include equal contribution for equal users of the facility, at

present only Kalamunda & Districts Hockey Club will be required to contribute to the program.

- A3. Taken on Notice.
- Q4 Hartfield Park Masterplan1 stated that hocked required one fully lit field instead 2 .50lux towers were installed which only provided lighting for 1/4 of the field. Why was this not built in accordance with Hartfield Park Masterplan1?
- A4. Taken on Notice.

3.2.3 Kevin Bennett, Wattle Grove

- Q. In relation to Item 10.3.1 As Main RoadsWA are now seeking support from the City in regards to this land acquisition would it now be a good time to open up further discussion in relation to the traffic concerns and issues along the eastern stretch of Welshpool Road East and in particular the intersection of Lewis Road and Welshpool Road East?
- A. The City has care and control over this stretch of Welshpool Road East and is undertaking technical studies around the intersection of Welshpool Road East and Lewis Road with the intention of formulating a black spot funding submission for traffic treatments. This will be presented to Council by the end of the year.
- 3.2.4 David Downing, Forrestfield
- Q. Is the City aware the Chief Exectuive Officer's Performance Review Committee Meeting was lived streamed and is still available.
- A. The City will investigage.

4. Petitions/Deputations

- 4.1 A deputation has been approved from Kalamunda & Districts Hockey Club regarding Item 10.4.1 Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield – Shared Seasonal Lease
- 4.2 A deputation has been approved from Forrestfield Flyers Teeball Club regarding Item 10.4.1 Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield – Shared Seasonal Lease

5. Applications for Leave of Absence

5.1 Nil.

6. Confirmation of Minutes from Previous Meeting

6.1 <u>RESOLVED OCM 125/2022</u>

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 23 August 2022, as published and circulated, are confirmed as a true and accurate record of the proceedings.

Moved: Cr Geoff Stallard

Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

7. Announcements by the Member Presiding Without Discussion

7.1 <u>Vale Owen McGrath</u>

On behalf of the City Councillors, CEO and staff I would like to pass on condolences to the family of the late Owen McGrath JP.

Mr McGrath was a former councillor of the then Shire of Kalamunda. Owen was first elected to council in May 1991. He served as Shire President from 1994 to 2001. Owen was a very dedicated and committed councillor who always worked for the betterment of the district.

Owen's term on council ended in 2001.

8. Matters for Which the Meeting may be Closed

8.1 Item 10.2.1 Award of eQuote 2022-01 Waste Services Management – Confidential Attachment - e Quote 2022-01 - DRAFT Tender Evaluation Report Rev 1

<u>Reason for Confidentiality:</u> Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (c) - "a contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government and which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting."

8.2 Item 10.3.2 Land Acquisition - Portion of Lot 1499 (71) Stirling Crescent, High Wycombe

<u>Reason for Confidentiality</u>: Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (c) - "a contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government and which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting."

8.3 Item 10.7.0 Chief Executive Officer's Performance Review Committee 20 September 2022 Recommendations to Council

Reason for Confidentiality: Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23(2)(a) – a matter affecting an employee or employees"

<u>Reason for Confidentiality:</u> Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23(2)(b) – *"the personal affairs of any person"*

9. Disclosure of Interest

9.1. Disclosure of Financial and Proximity Interests

- a) Members must disclose the nature of their interest in matters to be discussed at the meeting. (Section 5.56 of the *Local Government Act 1995*.)
- b) Employees must disclose the nature of their interest in reports or advice when giving the report or advice to the meeting. (Section 5.70 of the *Local Government Act 1995*.)
- 9.1.1 Rhonda Hardy declared a Direct Financial Interest Item 10.7.4 Salary Review 2022. This matter relates to Ms Hardy's remuneration at the City of Kalamunda.

9.2. Disclosure of Interest Affecting Impartiality

- a) Members and staff must disclose their interest in matters to be discussed at the meeting in respect of which the member or employee had given or will give advice.
- 9.2.1 Rhonda Hardy declared An Interest Affecting Impartiality in relation to Items 10.7.2 CEO Performance Report for the year 2021/2022, Item 10.7.3 CEO Performance Criteria 2022/2023 Adoption of Draft, and Item 10.7.4 Salary Review 2022. These matters relate to Ms Hardy's employment contract with the City of Kalamunda.
- 9.2.2 Cr Geoff Stallard declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item 10.4.1 Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield - Shared Seasonal Lease. Cr Stallard grandson who lives with him plays with the Kalamunda & Districts Hockey Club.

- 9.2.3 Cr Geoff Stallard declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item 10.4.2 State Government Grant Applications - Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund and Club Night light Program. Cr Stallard is a member of the Forrestfield Bowls Club and the Pickering Brook Sportsman's Club. Both club are applicants.
- 9.2.4 Cr Brook O'Donnell declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item10.4.1 Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield - Shared Seasonal Lease. Cr O'Donnell has a son who plays tball and she is a previous member of the executive committee of the club. She also participates in the club as a volunteer in various capacities.
- 9.2.5 Cr Brook O'Donnell declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item 10.4.2 State Government Grant Applications - Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund and club Night light Program. Cr O'Donnell has a son who plays tball and she is a previous member of the executive committee of the club. She also participates in the club as a volunteer in various capacities.

10. Reports to Council

10.1. Development Services Reports

10.1.1. Review of Council Policy Service 11 - Trading on Thoroughfares or Public Places - Permit Conditions

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

	Previous Items	OCM	16/2022
	Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant Owner		lopment Services onmental Health & Community Safety 1739
	Attachments	2.	Draft Trading on Thoroughfares or Public Places Permit Policy - Service 11 [10.1.1.1 - 9 pages] Community Engagement Report - Trading on Thoroughfares [10.1.1.2 - 22 pages]
TYPE OF REP	ORT		
Advoc	-		ncil is advocating on behalf of the community to /el of government/body/agency

Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction
	setting and oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans
	and budgets
Information	For Council to note
	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and

✓ Legislative Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.3 - To develop and enhance the City's economy. *Strategy 3.3.1* - Facilitate and support the success and growth of businesses.

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.4 - To be recognised as a preferred tourism destination. *Strategy 3.4.1* - Facilitate, support and promote, activities and places to visit.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is for council to consider the revised Trading on Thoroughfares and Public Places Policy (the Policy) (Attachment 1).
- 2. Council sought a review of the Policy following the appeal of a refused application for trading.
- 3. The main revisions to the Trading on Thoroughfares and Public Places Policy include providing direction on which forms of trading require permits, providing a position on competition among mobile trader's and revision of the trading locations.

BACKGROUND

- 4. The Shire of Kalamunda Trading on Thoroughfares and Public Places Local Law 2008 (the Local Law) allows the City to regulate trading activities that occur within public places.
- 5. The Local Law states that when determining an application, that the City is to have due regard to any relevant policies.
- 6. Council resolution OCM16/2022 sought a review of the Policy.
- 7. The review was prompted by an appeal made under Section 9.5 of the *Local Government Act 1995* for an application that was refused.
- 8. The subject application was for a German food van to trade at the Kalamunda Library Carpark which is not a listed trading location within the existing Policy.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 9. The revised policy is contained within Attachment 1.
- A detailed review of the City's current policy has been undertaken.
 Throughout this review comparison with other local governments policies, community consultation and staff assessment of both the Policy and trading locations have been undertaken.

- 11. Comparison with other local governments showed that many local governments follow a similar approach to regulating trading activities.
- 12. Following comparison to other local governments, additional policy measures and clarifications were included.
- 13. Busking, fundraising, personal training and other health and wellbeing activities and any trading activity not intended to serve the public will not require trading permits within the revised policy as they were deemed to be low impact activities.
- 14. Competition among traders selling similar goods at the same location has been considered within the revised Policy. The Policy makes it clear that the City will not consider competition when determining applications for trading. The City will however communicate with affected parties prior to issuing a permit for a potentially competing trader.
- 15. During the review, 24 locations were identified as being potentially suitable for trading activities. Further assessment which considered the availability of amenities, vehicle and pedestrian safety and land administration led to the number of suitable locations being reduced to 12 locations.
- 16. There are a total of 12 locations contained within the revised Policy with 6 of these locations being new. One location has been removed from the original policy.
- 17. The Zig Zag carpark location which was contained within the original policy has been removed as the land is managed by the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation & Attractions who have their own process for managing trading on their land.
- 18. The Kalamunda Library Car Park location which prompted this review has been added as a trading location following the successful trial period that has been undertaken. The City has not received any negative feedback in relation to trading at this location throughout the trial.
- 19. The Corner of Raymond & Godfrey Rd, Kalamunda Waterpark Carpark, Hartfield Park Carpark, Kalamunda Tennis Club Carpark and Mundaring Weir have been added as trading locations.

APPLICABLE LAW

20. Shire of Kalamunda Trading on Thoroughfares and Public Places Local Law 2008.

21. Local Government Act 1995

APPLICABLE POLICY

22. Council Service Policy 11 Trading on Thoroughfares or public Places Permit Conditions

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 23. Community consultation was undertaken as a part of this review, the Community Engagement Report for this consultation is contained within Attachment 2.
- 24. Prevailing sentiment from the community showed support for mobile food vendors with 70.2% of respondents supporting or strongly supporting the idea of mobile food vendors.
- 25. The community feedback indicates that trading locations need to be convenient, safe, not compete with bricks and mortar businesses and not impact the amenity of nearby residents.
- 26. The community supported all the suggested trading locations within the consultation which were: Fleming Reserve, Lesmurdie Lions Lookout, Stirk Park (Elizabeth St), Zig Zag Car Park, Corner of Midland and Ridge Hill Rd Maida Vale, Jorgenson Park and Corner of Hawtin and Norwood Roads.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

27. The Policy has provided additional trading locations which may lead to a greater number of mobile vendors operating and consequently greater revenue for the City.

SUSTAINABILITY

28. Mobile trading vendors provide activation opportunities which in turn bring benefit to the City through economic activity.

RISK MANAGEMENT

29.

Risk: The City doesn't have an established policy position leading to an ad-hoc consideration of application without guidance.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Moderate Possible Medium					
Action/Strategy					
Council adopts an appropriate policy to guide decision making for trading on thoroughfares and public places applications.					

CONCLUSION

- 30. The purpose of this report is for council to consider the revised Policy.
- 31. A review of the existing Policy was undertaken, and the Policy revised based upon the findings of this review.
- 32. Community feedback was clear in its support of mobile traders.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority	

RESOLVED OCM 126/2022

That Council ADOPT the revised Trading on Thoroughfares and Public Places Policy (Attachment 1).

Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor

Seconded: Cr Geoff Stallard

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.1.2.Local Planning Scheme No.3 - Scheme Amendment 110:Forrestfield/High Wycombe Light Industrial Area Stage 1Development Contribution Arrangement: Extension of Time

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant Owner		nit Ice	Deve Strate PG-LI	74/2022 lopment Services egic Planning PS-003/110 of Kalamunda ous	
Attachments			1. 2.	Form 2A: Proposed Amendment 110 to LPS3 Document [10.1.2.1 - 2 pages] Local Planning Scheme No. 3 - Schedule 12 [10.1.2.2	
			3.	- 2 pages] Local Structure Plan Map [10.1.2.3 - 1 page]	
OF REPORT					
•			hen Council is advocating on behalf of the community to other level of government/body/agency		
setti			ig and	ncil is undertaking its substantive role of direction d oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans ts	
Information For (For C	or Council to note		
Polic impa natu appl issue		Polici impao natur applio issue	udes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and cies. When Council determines a matter that directly acts a person's rights and interests where the principles of ural justice apply. Examples include town planning lications, building licences, other permits or licences ed under other Legislation or matters that could be ject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal		

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.3 - To develop and enhance the City's economy. *Strategy 3.3.1* - Facilitate and support the success and growth of businesses.

Strategy 3.3.2 - Attract and enable new investment opportunities.

TYPE

Å

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- The purpose of this report is for the Council to consider the adoption of the City of Kalamunda (City) Local Planning Scheme No. 3 (LPS3) Amendment 110 (A110) (refer Attachment 1) for the purpose of public advertising.
- 2. A110 applies to the Development Contribution Area 1 (DCA1) designated on the LPS3 map, and the Development Contribution Plan (DCP) incorporated in Schedule 12 of LPS 3 (refer Attachment 2), which operates over the Forrestfield / High Wycombe Industrial Area - Stage 1 (FFHWS1). A110 proposes to extend the existing 10 year operational period by a further five years (to a total operational period of 15 years). This will extend the expiry date of DCA1 from 10 May 2023 to 10 May 2028.
- 3. Since the DCP was introduced nine years ago, development contributions have been received from 29 development sites (approximately 60 per cent), or 67 per cent of the Net Contribution Area (NCA); with 20 development sites (approximately 40 per cent), or 33 per cent of the NCA yet to be developed. Based on the status and rate of development, remaining development contributions will not have been levied, nor all infrastructure delivered, by May 2023 (the end of the DCPs current 10-year operational period).
- 4. It is recommended that the Council adopt Amendment 110 for the purposes of public advertising.

BACKGROUND

5. The DCP, and by extension A110, applies to an area marked on the LPS3 map as DCA1, which operates over the FFHWS1; an area bounded by Berkshire Road, Milner Road, Sultana Road West and Roe Highway, as highlighted in red on the Locality Plan below.

6.

<image>

7. **Relevant History of the Area:**

FFHWS1 was rezoned from 'Special Rural' to 'Industrial Development' under the LPS3 in accordance with Amendment 34 which was Gazetted in February 2012.

- 8. The FFHWS1 Local Structure Plan (the LSP) was adopted in November 2013 to facilitate industrial subdivision and development within the area. The current LSP map can be found at Attachment 3.
- 9. As the area was historically used for rural and rural lifestyle land uses, the future industrial development of FFHWS1 generated the need for the provision of new infrastructure and upgrades to existing infrastructure that cater to industrial land uses.
- 10. Due to the nature of fragmented landownership, and the need to achieve the coordinated delivery of infrastructure, a DCP was prepared to coordinate the provision of common infrastructure in an equitable manner. The DCP was introduced through Schedule 12 of LPS3 through Amendment 48 which was approved and published in the Government Gazette on 10 May 2013. This date represents the commencement of the 10 year operational period for the DCP.

- 11. A comprehensive DCP Report (DCPR) and Cost Apportionment Schedule informs Schedule 12 but does not form part of LPS3 (Clause 6.5.10.3 of LPS3). The DCPR is a dynamic document which maintains the currency of the costs and is reviewed annually pursuant to Clause 6.5.11.2 of LPS3 and the requirements of *State Planning Policy 3.6 Infrastructure Contributions*.
- 12. Annual reviews allow the City to review the administration of the DCP, status of infrastructure delivery, and have regard to infrastructure cost changes and rate of development.
- 13. Historical annual reviews of the DCPR were completed and adopted on the following dates:
 - a) December 2012
 - b) December 2013
 - c) June 2015
 - d) December 2016
 - e) December 2018
 - f) February 2020
 - g) July 2020
 - h) December 2021
 - i) June 2022
- 14. Consequential amendments to the DCPR resulting from A110, to align the additional operation period outlined in Schedule 12 of LPS3 and the DCPR, will occur subject to and following determination of A110 by the Minister for Planning.
- 15. The Council adopted the most recent annual review of the DCPR at its Ordinary Meeting in June 2022 (OCM 74/2022).
- 16. The next review of the DCPR will commence at the conclusion of the 2022/23 financial year.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

17. **Period of Operation of the DCP**

The DCP is outlined in Schedule 12 of LPS3, with an operation period of 10 years.

- 18. Introduced into LPS3 on 10 May 2013 through Amendment 48, the current operational period concludes on 10 May 2023.
- 19. A110 seeks to amend the operation period of the DCP with no changes proposed to other provisions associated with DCA1 or the contents of the DCPR as previously adopted by the Council. Subject to the extension of the

operation of the DCP, the City will continue undertake annual reviews of the DCPR.

- 20. The provisions of State Planning Policy 3.6 (Infrastructure Contributions) (SPP3.6) contemplates a period of operation exceeding 10 years where, as in this instance, the nominated timeframe can be linked to a capital works and staging program (SPP 3.6, Clause 6.10.6).
- 21. Pursuant to Clause 6.10.6 of SPP 3.6, when determining an appropriate lifespan for a DCP, the following matters should be taken into consideration:
 - a) Strategic and infrastructure planning, and financing cycles
 - b) Reflect anticipated development growth rates; and
 - c) Provide certainty that the identified infrastructure items can be delivered within the stipulated timeframe of the DCP.
- 22. Subsequent sections in this report outline how the proposal conforms with these requirements.

23. Common Infrastructure Items

The DCP facilitates the coordinated provision of various common infrastructure Items as outlined in Schedule 12 of LPS3, and further informed through part 2 of the DCPR. In summary, the DCP facilitates the coordination of the following:

- a) Land for roads and intersections;
- b) Road and intersection construction;
- c) Landscaping; and
- d) Administration costs.

24. Status of Common Infrastructure Items

The following table summarises the status of the common infrastructure items the subject of the DCP:

Common	Status	Summary of Works
Infrastructure Items		
a) Berkshire Road	Designs completed to	i. 2m footpath on
Upgrades	85%.	northern verge.
		ii. Undergrounding of
	Works yet to	overhead consumer
	commence.	powerlines.

b) Milner Road Upgrades	Designs completed to 85%. Works yet to commence.	 i. Road widening to 10m to facilitate RAV7 vehicles between Berkshire Road Nardine Close. ii. The designs incorporate a new shared path, footpath, and street lighting.
c) Nardine Close Upgrades	Stage 1: Completed in 2019.	i. Approx 300 metre road extension to RAV4 standard.
	Stage 2: In progress.	 ii. Land acquisition and minor works (extension of footpath and services) to formalise the cul- de-sac to a permanent standard. iii. Emergency Access Way extending to Sultana Road West.
d) Sultana Road West Upgrades	Designs completed to 85%. Works yet to commence.	 i. Road widening to 9m to facilitate RAV4 vehicles (incl. drainage, footpaths, relocation of services). ii. 50% of costs borne by the DCP as per Schedule 12 of LPS3.
e) Milner Road / Nardine Close Intersection Upgrades	Completed in November 2019	i. Intersection widening to accommodate RAV7 category vehicles.

f) Berkshire Road /	Intersection widening	i.	Intersection
Ashby Close Intersection	completed in October 2019.		widening to accommodate RAV
Upgrades	2019.		7 category vehicles.
	Seagull island yet to	ii.	Seagull island to
	commence.		facilitate traffic
			management in left-
			in-left out
g) Dundas Road /	Completed in	 i	configuration. Intersection
Berkshire Road /	December 2019.	1.	widening to
Milner Road			accommodate as-
Intersection			of-right vehicles to
Upgrades			Dundas/Berkshire.
		ii.	Intersection
			widening to
			accommodate RAV
			7 category vehicles
h) Bonser Road	Stage 1: Completed in	i.	to Berkshire/Milner. New 10 metre wide
Upgrades	June 2020.	'.	road connection
00610005	June 2020.		between Berkshire
			Road and Nardine
			Close, inclusive of
			drainage, footpath
			and lighting.
	Stage 2: Yet to	ii.	Completion of the
	commence. Pending		southern
	land acquisition.		truncations, sweeps and kerbs.

- 25. **Priority of Delivery for Outstanding Common Infrastructure Items** As noted in the above table, several common infrastructure items remain outstanding, with delivery contingent upon further development of land within DCA1 and subsequent collection of development contributions levied at the subdivision and/or development of land.
- 26. Subject to the availability of funding, the following items yet to be completed are considered current priority items. In order of priority, they are:
 - a) Ongoing administration costs,
 - b) The following items have equal priority:
 - i. Land acquisition and construction requirements associated with establishing the Nardine Close temporary cul-de-sac to a

permanent standard and constructing an emergency accessway between the Nardine Close cul-de-sac and Sultana Road West.

- Bonser Road Prefunded by the landowner of Lot 547
 Berkshire Road. The road was completed in June 2020 and the prefunding costs (land and construction) have been settled in June 2022. A second stage will be required once land is acquired for truncations from Lots 16 and 17 Berkshire Road, subject to retaining sufficient funds to complete this priority. Subsequent priorities, as stated below, may also be progressed in advance of completing the second stage for Bonser Road;
- c) Milner Road construction;
- d) Sultana Road West construction;
- e) Berkshire Road footpath and adjustment to services; and
- f) Berkshire Road / Ashby Close Intersection treatment (Seagull island).
- 27. For further information regarding the status and forecast costs of outstanding common infrastructure items can be found in the DCPR adopted by the Council in June 2022 (OCM 74/2022).

28. Financial Status of the DCP

The forecast total cost of the DCP is approximately \$14.34 million. Of this, \$11.66 million has been spent on infrastructure and the administration of the DCP to date, or is the subject to agreements to prefund infrastructure and for land acquisition; with approximately \$2.68 million required to complete the outstanding common infrastructure Items.

29. When can Cost Contributions be levied?

Pursuant to Clause 6.5.13.2 of LPS3, Development Contributions are to be levied at the earliest of the following circumstances/events:

- a) Prior to the lodgement of title for any subdivision of land within DCA1;
- b) The substantial commencement of any development of land within DCA1 (with the exception of minor development as outlined in Clause 6.5.13.3 of LPS3); or
- c) The approval of a change or extension of use land within DCA1.
- 30. The collection of outstanding development contributions is therefore directly correlated to the development of land within the area.

31. Remaining Developable Land

DCA1 comprises of 49 development sites, with a NCA of 66.47 hectares.

32. Cost contributions are calculated based on the current per square metre rate relative to the development sites NCA.

- 33. To date, development contributions have been received from approximately 60 per cent (29) of the development sites, or 67 per cent of the NCA; with approximately 40 per cent (20 development sites) of the development sites, or 33 per cent of the NCA yet to be developed.
- 34. Development contributions collected from the remaining NCA will provide the funds necessary to account for all infrastructure items and associated administration costs noted in the DCPR. For further information regarding the calculation of the NCA refer to part 3 of the DCPR (OCM 74/2022).
- 35. Based on the status and rate of development, remaining development contributions will not have been levied, nor all infrastructure delivered, by 10 May 2023 (the end of the DCPs current 10-year operational period).

36. Forecast Development of DCA1

To forecast anticipated development of remaining development sites within DCA1, a simple methodology has been applied, whereby the average annual NCA throughout the lifetime DCP is considered in context of the DCPs development area, forecasting a total operation period of 13 years and 11 months.

- 37. To date, the DCP has:
 - a) Been in operation for a period of approx. 112 months (May 2013 to September 2022);
 - b) Levied for approximately 44.6 hectares of the total NCA (66.47 hectares); and
 - c) Developed at a rate of approximately 4.79 hectares per year, or 0.4 hectares per month.
- 38. Applying the same projected average development rate, the DCP will:
 - a) Receive approximately 72 per cent of contributions (based on NCA) by May 2023 (the end of the DCPs current operational period); and
 - Require a total operational period of 167 months (13 years and 11 months, May 2013 to April 2027) to collect the outstanding development contributions.
- 39. A110 will extend the period of operation applicable to the DCP by a further five (5) years; to May 2028.
- 40. Utilising the assumption of the rate of development to date in the DCA1, a five (5) year extension will provide an additional 13 months. This is considered an appropriate amount of additional time if development is slower than projected.

41. Consequential amendments to the operational period outlined in the DCPR will be made once a determination is made by the Minister for Planning in respect to A110.

42. Appropriateness of Amending the Existing DCP or Adopting a New DCP

Amendment 110 proposes to extend the operational period of the DCP by a further 5 years with no other changes proposed.

- 43. Pursuant to Clauses 6.10.6 and 6.10.17 of SPP3.6, a scheme amendment is the most appropriate mechanism to amend Schedule 12 of LPS3 by way of extending the period of operation applicable to DCA1 by a further 5 years.
- 44. The adoption of a new DCP would be appropriate in the instance that the area contained within DCA1 or the infrastructure items included, required modification. None of these scenarios are proposed with Amendment 110 nor are they considered required at this point in time.
- 45. In addition, the DCP is currently active with proportional contributions collected from earlier contributors for infrastructure that still requires delivery. Extending the operation of the DCP will ensure the arrangement operates in a fair and equitable manner for earlier and later contributors.

46. **5-year review of DCP**

Schedule 12 of LPS3 provides for a review to occur of the DCP within 5 years of adoption, or the previous review. A comprehensive review of the DCP occurred in 2016/17, resulting in a range of modifications to the infrastructure items listed in Schedule 12.

47. It should be noted that the rate of development and the degree of development potential existing is considered as part of the annual review process, together with estimated costs of infrastructure. Amendment 110 forms a product of the ongoing review process. There are no further changes to infrastructure items included or other components of the DCP proposed.

APPLICABLE LAW

48. Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations2015

A110 is a complex amendment (Regulation 34(e) and 72 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* (the Regulations).

49. Regulation 35 of the Regulations requires a resolution of the local government to adopt or refuse to adopt A110. The resolution must specify

and provide justification for the type of scheme amendment (basic, standard or complex).

- 50. Regulation 37 (1) of the Regulations requires the local government to resolve:
 - a) To proceed to advertise A110 without modification; or
 - b) To proceed to advertise A110 with modification; or
 - c) Not to proceed to advertise A110.
- 51. Should the Council resolve to adopt A110, Regulation 37 (2) of the Regulations requires the referral of A110 to the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) for consent to commence advertising.
- 52. Should the WAPC advise A110 is in a manner and form appropriate for advertising, Regulation 38 of the Regulations requires the local government to prepare a notice outlining:
 - a) The purpose of A110;
 - b) How A110 can be accessed;
 - c) The manner and form in which submissions can be made; and
 - d) The submission period.
- 53. Pursuant to Regulation 38 (3) of the Regulations, the submission period for a complex amendment is 60 days.
- 54. Regulation 40 of the Regulations outlines the manner and form in which submissions can be made.
- 55. Regulation 71 (4) (f) of the Regulations requires the LPS3 (through Schedule 12) to outline the term for which the plan is to have effect.

56. Planning and Development Act 2005

Section 81 and 82 of the *Planning and Development Act 2005* (the Act) requires the local government to refer A110 to the Environmental Protection Authority (WA) prior to the commencement of the advertising period.

57. City of Kalamunda Local Planning Scheme No. 3

Clause 6.5 (Development Contribution Areas) of LPS3 outlines the establishment, implementation and operation of DCPs operable within the City.

58. All operable DCPs are incorporated into Schedule 12 of LPS3. The associated DCPR and cost apportionment schedule does not form part of LPS3.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 59. **State Planning Policy 3.6 (Infrastructure Contributions)** State Planning Policy 3.6 (SPP 3.6) sets out the principals and considerations that apply to development contributions, and the form, content and process to be followed throughout their administration.
- 60. While clause 3.3.4 (Establishing a lifespan) of SPP3.6 recommends DCPs have a lifespan of 10 years, it contemplates a longer operation period if justification can be demonstrated.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 61. Should the Council resolve to adopt A110 for the purposes of public advertising, it will be concurrently submitted to the Environmental Protection Authority to consider whether an environmental review is required; and referred to the WAPC for their consent prior to the commencement of advertising.
- 62. Where no environmental assessment is required, and consent to advertise has been granted by the WAPC, A110 will be advertised for a period of 60 days via the following methods:
 - a) A publication on the City's website;
 - b) A copy of A110 available for inspection at the City's Administration Centre;
 - c) Letters to all landowners within DCA1; and
 - d) A newspaper advertisement.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 63. The operation of the DCP presents a major administrative responsibility for the City. While the DCP is self-funded, the City has an implicit obligation to efficiently and effectively manage the revenues and works.
- 64. The remaining developable area is reliant on the DCP to provide the necessary infrastructure to facilitate development. In particular, the timely provision of roads and drainage is critical for industrial precincts as most developments rely on these improvements for suitable access and servicing.

- 65. The LPS3 requires that the City refunds any excess funds when all Development Contributions have been made or accounted for. As of October 2022, 29 out of the 49 development site (approx. 60%) in DCA1 have been developed, or have commenced development, and 20 development site (approx 40%) are yet to be developed.
- 66. Clause 6.5.17 of LPS3 provides the required actions where there is a shortfall or excess of funds when all Cost Contributions have been made or accounted for in the DCP, summarised as follows:
 - a) Shortfall the local government may make good the shortfall (municipal funds), enter into agreements with owners to fund the shortfall, and/or loan fund the shortfall.
 - b) Excess the local government is required to identify owners and their entitled amount and refund excess funds to contributing owners. If it is not reasonably practical to identify owners and/or the entitled amount, funds should be applied to the provision of additional facilities or improvements in the DCA.
- 67. This process will not occur until "all cost contributions have been made or accounted for". It is imperative that the City have a clear understanding of the final costs, and how any outstanding contributions will be accounted for before commencing the reconciliation process. In this regard, an extension of the operational life of the DCP will also extend the conclusion of the DCP and therefore any actions to address excess or shortfalls.
- 68. If the operational life of the DCP is not extended, there will be no formal funding arrangement for the infrastructure necessary to complete the FFHWS1 area. This would result in a reliance on alternative funding sources such as municipal funds, loans funding or grants and would result in uncertainty and unacceptable delays to the completion of necessary infrastructure.
- 69. A110 seeks to extend the operation period of the DCP by an additional 5 years (May 2028) to minimise the risk of a shortfall in cost contributions at the end of the DCP.
- 70. The administration component of the DCP will be required to be extended which will result in additional yearly reviews and administration costs. These will be calculated and included in future DCP reports should A110 be approved. The estimated total additional administration cost over the 5-year period is approximately \$550,000.

SUSTAINABILITY

71. Social Implications

The provision of infrastructure in a timely, coordinated, and responsible manner can have a significant impact upon the quality of life and employment areas for both existing and future land users. There is a reasonable expectation that infrastructure will be funded and delivered to service the needs of developments and its occupants.

72. Impacts on the quality of life need to be considered at both a micro and macro level, with infrastructure planning needing to deliver net community benefits.

73. Economic Implications

The implementation of DCPs, as a basic principle, are not intended to deliver infrastructure, services or similar that would not ordinarily be provided through subdivision and development processes. As such, a DCP does not offer any direct economic benefits to an area. DCPs can however, assist in the timely, efficient, and equitable provision of infrastructure that may in turn facilitate economic grown and employment creation.

74. Environmental Implications

A110 will have no additional environmental implications to those which have already been considered through the introduction and annual review of the DCP.

RISK MANAGEMENT

75.

Risk: A110 is not supported and the operational period of the DCP is not extended by an additional five years resulting in a shortfall of funds.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Critical Rare		Medium			
Action/Strategy					
Ensure the importance of extending the operational period by an					
additional five years is understood and A110 is approved by the					
Minister.					

76. **Risk**: Land within the NCA remains undeveloped by the recommended operational period of 15 years (May 2028).

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Critical	Unlikely	High			
Action/Strategy					
Ensure the rate of development is monitored annually and the duration					
of the DCP is reevaluated at that time with consideration of alternative					
options if required pursuant to Clause 6.5.17 of LPS3.					

77. **Risk**: Land within the NCA develops earlier than the end of the recommended operational period of 15 years (May 2028).

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating		
Insignificant	Possible	Low		
Action/Strategy				
No action required. Should land within the NCA develop earlier than the				
end of the operational period, the DCP will simply be finalised at an				
earlier date.				

CONCLUSION

- 78. Advertising A110 will provide affected landowners within DCA1 an opportunity to consider and provide a written submission regarding the extension to the operational period of the DCP.
- 79. A110 is consistent with the relevant planning framework and is consistent with orderly and proper planning.
- 80. Having regard to the above, it is recommended that Council adopt A110 for the purpose of public advertising.

81. Additional Information Since PAB

Since the Public Agenda Briefing Forum draft agenda was published additional information has been included in this report regarding the following key matters:

- a) SPP3.6 requirements in regard to the period of operation.
- b) Comparisons between extending the period of operation for the DCP or creating a new DCP.
- c) 5-yearly review of the DCP.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 127/2022

That Council:

- 1. CONSIDER Amendment 110 to the City of Kalamunda Local Planning Scheme No. 3 a complex amendment, pursuant to Regulation 35 (2) and 72 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* for the following reasons:
 - a) The amendment relates to an amendment to a Development Contribution Plan.

- b) The amendment is not a standard or basic amendment.
- 2. PROCEED to advertise Amendment 110 to the City of Kalamunda Local Planning Scheme No. 3 as at Attachment 1 without modification, pursuant to Section 75 of the *Planning and Development Act 2005* and Regulation 37 (1) (a) of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015*.

Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor

- Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.2. Asset Services Reports

10.2.1. Award of eQuote 2022-01 Waste Services Management

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items	OCM 112/2016; OCM 87/2022
Directorate	Asset Services
Business Unit	Asset Waste & Operations
File Reference	AD-TEN-005
Applicant	N/A
Owner	N/A
Attachments	Nil
Confidential Attachment	Reason for Confidentiality: Local Government Act 1995 s5.23 (c) "a contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting."

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
虏	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 2: Kalamunda Clean and Green

Objective 2.3 - To reduce the amount of waste produced and increase the amount of reuse and recycling of waste.

Strategy 2.3.1 – Implement the City's Waste Plan aligned to the State Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to consider the award of eQuote 2022-01 Waste Services Management.
- 2. It is recommended that Council accepts the eQuote(s) from:
 - a) Cleanaway Pty Ltd, ACN 000 164 938 of Level 4, 441 St Kilda Road Melbourne VIC 3004 and
 - b) Resource Recovery Group ABN 28 965 675 752 of 9 Aldous Place, Booragoon WA 6154

as per the schedule of rates set out in the Confidential Attachment 1 to this report.

3. The estimated expenditure within this contract is \$4m (excl. GST) per annum with an initial term of seven years and three further one-year extensions at the City of Kalamunda's (City) discretion. There will also be a one-off cost of \$2.2m to provide new bins and associated works when the City commits to the 3rd Bin (Food Organics and Garden Organics) system.

BACKGROUND

- In a general sense, residential kerbside waste management involves two core services – the pickup and delivery of waste in bins or skips to a processing facility and the processing of the individual waste streams themselves.
- 5. It would be a significant risk for the City to consider any waste processing or large-scale residential collection undertakings by the City due to the intensive nature of the capital investment and operational costs required to start up such operations. As such, these services need to be managed by contract resources for the foreseeable future.
- The following table illustrates the probable outcomes for kerbside waste processing over the coming years as the City progresses along its Waste Plan in accordance with the State's Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy:

Bin	Current Processing	Introduction of Waste to Energy (W2E)	Introduction of Waste to Energy and Food Organics / Garden Organics (FOGO)
240 litre dark green lid (current)	Landfill to EMRC Red Hill	W2E via EMRC	-
240 litre yellow lid (current)	Recycling by Contractor	Recycling by Contractor	Recycling by Contractor
240 litre lime green lid (new)	-	-	FOGO by Contractor or EMRC
140 litre red lid (new)	-	-	W2E via EMRC
General Waste Skip (current)	Recycling by Contractor	Recycling by Contractor	Recycling by Contractor
Green Waste Skip (current)	Mulching at Red Hill by EMRC	Mulching at Red Hill by EMRC	Mulching at Red Hill by EMRC

- 7. At present, Cleanaway provide all of the kerbside bin collection and skip bin delivery / removal services as well as processing of recycling. Along with processing currently provided by EMRC at Red Hill this covers the gamut of kerbside waste management.
- 8. Cleanaway's contract for these services is due to expire on 30 June 2023.
- 9. The City undertook eQuote 2022-01 for the provision of current services that are due to expire in 30 June 2023 as well as amendments for future services required over time as each of the Waste to Energy and FOGO processes come on line.
- 10. The scale of these services is such that they were split into five separable portions, to attract the maximum number of potential contractors who could make submissions for any/all of the following services listed.

Separable Portion 1 -	Collection Services
Separable Portion 2 -	Recycling Material Processing
Separable Portion 3 -	Bulk Bin Service (Mini Skips) for General and
Green Waste	

Separable Portion 4 -Bin ServicesSeparable Portion 5 -Provision and delivery of bin infrastructure for
FOGO rollout – which is an 'one off' cost

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 11. The request for eQuote 2022-01 Waste Services Management was issued through WALGA's Preferred Supplier panel on Wednesday 4 May 2022 with Receipt of eQuote submissions closed at 2:00pm AWST Thursday 23 June 2022.
- 12. Tender submissions were received from:
 - a) Suez Recycling & Recover Pty Ltd (now Veolia)
 - b) JJ's Waste & Recycling
 - c) Solo Resource Recovery
 - d) Resource Recovery Group
 - e) Cleanaway Industrial Solutions Pty Ltd
- 13. An Evaluation Panel was convened of suitably qualified City Officers to assess the tenders received.
- 14. Tenders were assessed in a staged process of firstly checking for compliance to matters set out in the tender invitation. Compliant tenders were then assessed against qualitative criteria.
- 15. The Qualitative Criteria and weighting were determined as follows:

Qualitative Criteria	Weighting
Relevant Experience & Safety	25%
Key Personnel & Sub Contractors Skills & Experience	20%
Tenderer's Resources	20%
Methodology – Understanding of the Operational Requirements and Plans to deliver the Services	30%
Local Benefits	5%

16. All tender submissions met the compliance criteria and then were assessed against the qualitative criteria (for the respective separable portion(s) that they bided on).

The eQuote Assessment Panel determined that a Qualitative Pass Mark (QPM) of 60% would be set for the tender of this nature.

- 17. Of the five tender submissions all five met the required QPM of 60% or above and progressed to the next stage.
- 18. A price assessment was then undertaken to determine the best value for money outcome for the City.
- 19. The eQuote Evaluation Report is provided as Confidential Attachment 1 to this report.
- 20. The recommended tenderers submissions best satisfied the City's requirements by:
 - a) meeting or exceeding the qualitative assessment benchmark;
 - b) proven capacity and capability to provide Waste Management Services throughout the City;
 - c) have the skills and experience to carry out any/all Waste Management Services requested in this contract;
 - d) Available 24/7 for emergency works; and
 - e) providing the best value for money outcome.
- 21. The City requested pricing for collection and delivery of waste against the likely delivery points (as well as distance-based pricing for as yet unknown delivery points) that would occur as the City progresses from landfill to waste to energy and from two bin to three bin systems.
- 22. In order to best determine the preferred outcome, the scenario most likely in place for most of the contract period was that of a 3 bin Waste to Energy and FOGO scenario with deliveries to Hazelmere Transfer Station (W2E), Red Hill (FOGO) and the most advantageous Recycling plant.
- 23. This scenario was then used as the benchmark for comparative pricing analysis between bids.
- 24. Of the five qualifying and compliant qualitative tender responses a combination, Cleanaway and Veolia provided the optimum value for the required services.
- 25. The preferred outcomes were then tested against other scenarios with no change in the relative ranking between offers.
- 26. One of the core risks in this contract is that the awarded Contractor can provide sufficient fleet at contract start date. The eQuote sought to ensure that the fleet at contract start would be all brand new. With current supply chain issues experienced Australia wide there is some risk that this would not be achievable, so the Tender Assessment Panel examined each bid for availability of 'on hand' fleet at contract start date and were satisfied as to the outcomes.
27. The Evaluation Panel recommends the City separate the Separable Portions for ensuring best value for money and best possible coverage through the City.

Recommendation as follows:

- 28. That Council ACCEPT the eQuote 2022-01 Provision of Waste Management Services submitted by Cleanaway Industrial Solutions Pty Ltd, ACN 000 164 938 for:
- a) **Separable Portion 1** Collection Services
- b) **Separable Portion 3** Bulk Bin Service (Mini Skips) for General and Green Waste
- c) **Separable Portion 4** Bin Services
- d) **Separable Portion 5** Provision and delivery of bin infrastructure for FOGO rollout

And the submission submitted by Resource Recovery Group ABN 28 965 675 752 for:

e) **Separable Portion 2** – Recycling Material Processing

APPLICABLE LAW

29. Section 3.57 of *Local Government Act* 1995. Part 4 of the *Local Government* (Functions and General) Regulations 1996.

APPLICABLE POLICY

30. Policy C-PP01 – Purchasing has been followed and complied with.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 31. The anticipated annual spend on waste services over the life of this contract will vary from year to year dependent on:
 - a) Annual changes in unit rates based on agreed cost escalation mechanisms set out in contract;
 - b) Annual changes in recycling costs based on changes in value of recovered materials;
 - c) Timing of conversion from 2 bin to 3 bin system;
 - d) Timing of waste to energy processing;
 - e) Changes in government fees notably Landfill Levy

32. The use of Waste Services Management under this contract will form part of approved annual expenditure budgets in Waste Services and Income will be generated through the City's Waste Services Fee to.

SUSTAINABILITY

33. The City of Kalamunda Waste Plan June 2020 has actions to meet the States Waste Avoidance Strategy Targets through measures to generate less waste, to recover more value and resources from waste and protect the environment by managing waste responsibly.

RISK MANAGEMENT

34. **Risk**: The City accepts a Tender for Waste Management Services and the Contractor is unable to resource new plant and equipment or personnel to take over services on 1 July 2023. Likelihood Consequence Rating Critical Possible High Action/Strategy Be willing to accept old equipment to be used until new equipment a) can be procured. b) Award Tender by 30 September 2022 giving the successful Tenderer the lead time to put in place the resources (Labour & Plant) to start the Contract on 1 July 2023. 35. **Risk**: That a delivery point for processing of one waste stream emerges which hadn't been forecast requiring negotiation of collection prices. Likelihood Consequence Rating Moderate Unlikely Low Action/Strategy The range of delivery options in eQuote 2022-01 also include a) distance-based delivery cost options to guide future negotiations

CONCLUSION

- 36. The delivery of eQuote 2022–01 Waste Services Management will allow the City to carry out its role in the provision of these essential services relating to waste collection and disposal for the health and safety of its residents throughout the City.
- 37. The City is satisfied that the recommended tenderer/s have the demonstrated experience, the capability, capacity, along with experienced staff and resources available to provide the City with the required Waste Management Services.

38. The variety of pricing options contained within the eQuote offers provides the City with sufficient certainty to forecast annual budgets every year of the contract irrespective of the known changes to waste management processes.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM128/2022

That Council ACCEPT the eQuote 2022-01 Provision of Waste Services Management submitted by Cleanaway Pty Ltd, ACN 000 164 938 of Level 4, 441 St Kilda Road Melbourne VIC 3004 for:

- a) Separable Portion 1 Collection Services
- b) Separable Portion 3 Bulk Bin Service (Mini Skips) for General and Green Waste
- c) Separable Portion 4 Bin Services
- d) Separable Portion 5 Provision and delivery of bin infrastructure for FOGO rollout

And the submission submitted by Resource Recovery Group ABN 28 965 675 752 of 9 Aldous Place, Booragoon WA 6154 for:

e) Separable Portion 2 – Recycling Material Processing

as set out in Confidential Attachment 1, for the initial seven-year contract with three further one-year extensions at the sole discretion of the City of Kalamunda.

Moved: Cr Kathy Ritchie

Seconded: Cr Geoff Stallard

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.3. Corporate Services Reports

10.3.1. Tonkin Highway Grade Separation - Dedication of Land as Road

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items	Nil
Directorate	Corporate Services
Business Unit	Economic & Cultural Services
File Reference	4.00009262; BR-40/012; WL-10/655; WL-10/665
Applicant	Main Roads Western Australia
Owner	Gwelup Holdings Pty Ltd
	Whitecliffe Securities Pty Ltd
	Bunthorne Holdings Pty Ltd
	Ciderberry (PHA) Pty Ltd
Attachments	1. Plans [10.3.1.1 - 3 pages]
	 Letter from Main Roads Western Australia [10.3.1.2 2 pages]
TYPE OF REPORT	
•	n Council is advocating on behalf of the community to her level of government/body/agency

	Executive	another level of government/body/agency When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
đ	Information Legislative	For Council to note Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.2 - To connect community to key centres of activity, employment and quality amenities.

Strategy 3.2.3 - Provide and advocate for improved transport solutions and better connectivity through integrated transport planning.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to consider the proposed dedication of portions of the following lots as road:
 - a) Lot 42 (12) Bruce Road, Wattle Grove (Lot 42);
 - b) Lot 36 (655) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove (Lot 36); and
 - c) Lot 341 (665) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove (Lot 341).
- 2. The proposed dedication of land as road is required to facilitate the Main Roads Western Australia (MRWA) Tonkin Highway Grade Separation Project.
- 3. It is recommended that Council support the proposed dedication of land as road, subject to conditions.

BACKGROUND

4. MRWA requires portions of Lot 42, Lot 36 and Lot 341 (Road Land) to be dedicated as road to facilitate the Tonkin Highway Grade Separation Project. The Tonkin Highway Grade Separation Project is depicted below.



- 5. The Road Land is depicted in Drawing Numbers 2160-092-1; 2160-093-1 and 2160-094 (**Attachment 1**).
- 6. MRWA has approached all landowners and other affected parties and arrangements for the acquisition of the Road Land are being finalised.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 7. MRWA has requested, by letter, that Council resolve to dedicate the Road Land as road, pursuant to section 56 of the *Land Administration Act 1997* (WA) (Attachment 2).
- 8. The proposal has been assessed from an environmental perspective and there is no objection to the proposed road dedication.
- 9.
- The City has no objection to the proposal from a planning perspective.
 The City notes some of the acquisition area appears to be slightly outside of the Metropolitan Region Scheme (MRS) Regional Road reservation.
- 11. MRWA has advised for any land required outside the MRS Primary Regional Road Reserve, MRWA is required to submit a development application to the impacted local government. All landowners impacted by the acquisition have been approached by MRWA and negotiations are underway.
- 12. On completion of works, the project closeout will identify all land that is not within the current MRS Primary Regional Road boundary but utilised for the Tonkin Highway upgrade. The MRWA Planning team will be notified of the identified land for the purposes of pursuing an MRS amendment and including the land in the MRS as Road Reserve if appropriate.
- 13. MRWA advises that every endeavour is made to remain within the MRS Primary Regional Road boundary, however as this can be 20+ years old, sometimes extension beyond is required to meet compliance and design standards that have evolved over time.
- 14. The City has no objection to the proposal from an Assets andDevelopment Engineering perspective, but notes Lot 341 will lose access as a result of the proposed land acquisition.
- 15. MRWA has advised that negotiations are underway with the owners of Lot 36 and Lot 341 regarding the provision of alternative access to Lot 341. The City has been involved in discussions regarding access to Lot 341. The Department of Planning, Lands & Heritage has also been consulted. Regardless of the outcome, MRWA advises that with the current proposed access closure, Lot 341 is required to have an access allowance to be serviced.
- 16. The City does not object to the proposal from a health or community development perspective.

- 17. MRWA advises if the proposed dedication does not proceed, the project will fail to provide adequate service corridor widths in accordance with the Utility Providers Code of Practice (the basis on which all of the utility providers have confirmed no objection to this proposal). This in turn will result in insufficient width for services to be relocated in.
- 18. It will also potentially limit the width of verge on the north side of Welshpool Road East and path width, noting this is part of the Department of Transport Long Term Cycle Network Strategy and provides the East-West link to the new Principle Shared Path (PSP) connecting the community of Wattle Grove with the active transport network on the East side of Tonkin Highway.

APPLICABLE LAW

19. Land Administration Act (WA) s. 56

APPLICABLE POLICY

20. Service 4: Asset Management

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Public Advertising

- 21. The proposal was advertised in the Echo Newspaper on 13 May 2022 and on the City's website. Comments closed on 20 June 2022.
- 22. No public submissions were received.

Service Authorities

- 23. The proposal was referred to the service authorities for comment, namely ATCO, Telstra, NBN, Water Corporation and Western Power.
- 24. ATCO has no objection to the proposed dedication. ATCO has infrastructure in the vicinity. ATCO requires its infrastructure to be relocated into the new road reserve, if necessary.
- 25. Telstra has no objection to the proposed dedication. Telstra has advised that its services will be impacted and will require a redesign to suit the proposed works. Telstra will work with the appropriate authorities to obtain a suitable outcome.

- 26. NBN does not have any objection the proposed dedication. NBN has network contained within the Telstra pit and pipe. NBN will need to relocate its assets into the new Telstra pit and pipe network.
- 27. Water Corporation has no objection to the proposed dedication as its assets are located within the road reserve and will not be affected.
- 28. Western Power has assets in the vicinity. Western Power has no objection to the proposed dedication, subject to MRWA funding the relocation of the identified assets.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 29. MRWA has provided written advice that it will be responsible for all costs of the proposal (**Attachment 2**).
- 30. The anticipated costs of the proposal include the cost of service relocations, surveys, and document preparation and registration fees.
- 31. These costs will be determined by the relevant third parties, namely the utility providers, surveyor, Department of Planning, Lands & Heritage and Landgate. It is the responsibility of MRWA to obtain quotes / cost estimates for these costs direct from the relevant third parties.

SUSTAINABILITY

- 32. The proposal will facilitate the Tonkin Highway Grade Separation Project. This MRWA project seeks to improve safety and reduce delays along a heavily congested route.
- 33. MRWA advises that in addition to improved safety and reduced congestion, the project will provide improved freight access and support of the Maddington Kenwick Strategic Employment Area (MKSEA) Structure Plan to support growth of the local economy.

RISK MANAGEMENT

34.

Risk: MRWA does not acquire the Road Land from the current landowners, but the proposed dedication still proceeds.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Significant	Unlikely	Medium
Action/Strategy		
Council to make its support of the proposed dedication conditional on MRWA acquiring the Road Land.		

35. **Risk**: MRWA is unable to provide adequate service corridor widths in accordance with the Utility Providers Code of Practice due to the proposed dedication not proceeding.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Major	Unlikely	Medium
Action/Strategy		
Council to support the proposed dedication to ensure the Tonkin Highway Grade Separation Project can proceed as designed and that adequate service corridor widths are provided.		

CONCLUSION

- 36. The proposal will facilitate the Tonkin Highway Grade Separation Project.
 This MRWA project is of benefit to the community. It seeks to improve safety and reduce delays along a heavily congested route.
- 37. It is recommended that Council request the Minister for Lands to dedicate the Road Land as road, subject to the following conditions:
 - a) MRWA to pay all costs of and incidental to the proposal;
 - b) The proposed dedication to only occur once MRWA becomes the registered proprietor of the Road Land; and
 - c) MRWA to indemnify the City and the Minister for Lands against any claims that may arise as a result of the proposed dedication.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 129/2022

That Council:

- 1. REQUEST the Minister for Lands to dedicate as road the portions of:
 - a) Lot 42 (12) Bruce Road, Wattle Grove;
 - b) Lot 36 (655) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove; and
 - c) Lot 341 (665) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove,

shown delineated and marked as "Land Required for Road Purposes" on Drawing Numbers 2160-092-1; 2160-093-1 and 2160-094 (Attachment 1), pursuant to section 56 of the *Land Administration Act 1997* (WA), subject to the following conditions:

- Main Roads Western Australia to pay all costs of and incidental to the proposal, including but not limited to the costs of advertising, surveys, approvals, service relocations, easements, and document preparation and lodgement;
- The proposed dedication to only occur once Main Roads Western Australia becomes the registered proprietor of the portions of land proposed to be dedicated; and
- iii. Main Roads Western Australia to indemnify the City of Kalamunda and the Minister for Lands against any claims that may arise as a result of the proposed dedication. Council notes that Main Roads Western Australia has stated it will be responsible for any costs and claims that may arise as a result of the dedication in Attachment 2.
- 2. REQUEST Main Roads Western Australia to:
 - a) pursue a Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment, so that all of the land dedicated as road for the purposes of the Tonkin Highway upgrade is included in the Metropolitan Region Scheme Regional Road reservation; and
 - b) provide Lot 341 (665) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove with alternative access, noting that the proposed land acquisition will remove the current access to Lot 341.
- 3. UNDERTAKE to comply with section 56(2) of the *Land Administration Act 1997* (WA).
- Moved: Cr Brooke O'Donnell
- Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.3.2. Land Acquisition - Portion of Lot 1499 (71) Stirling Crescent, High Wycombe

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

<u>Reason for Confidentiality</u>: Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (c) - "a contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government and which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting."

Previous Items	OCM 89/2021
Directorate	Corporate Services
Business Unit	Economic & Cultural Services
File Reference	ST-12/071; 4.00010907
Applicant	City of Kalamunda
Owner	CILF H1 Pty Ltd

Attachments Nil

TYPE OF REPORT

\$

Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
Information	For Council to note
Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

RESOLVED OCM140/2022

That Council ADOPT Confidential Terms of Negotiation Option B as specified in Confidential Attachment 3, for the purposes of the Chief Executive Officer negotiating and entering into a legal agreement with the registered proprietor of land described as Lot 1499 on Deposited Plan 251270 and being the whole of the land comprised in Certificate of Title Volume 1087 Folio 357 and otherwise known as Lot 1499 (71) Stirling Crescent, High Wycombe (Land) for the acquisition of the portion of the Land shown delineated and marked as "Future Road Widening" on Drawing No. 987-18/19-LRE-0007 (Confidential Attachment 1), pursuant to section 168 of the *Land Administration Act 1997* (WA). Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor

- Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.4. Office of the CEO Reports

10.4.1. Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield - Shared Seasonal Lease

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Cr Geoff Stallard declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item 10.4.1 Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield - Shared Seasonal Lease. Cr Stallard grandson who lives with him plays with the Kalamunda & Districts Hockey Club.

Cr Brook O'Donnell declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item10.4.1 Facility Management 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield - Shared Seasonal Lease. Cr O'Donnell has a son who plays tball and she is a previous member of the executive committee of the club. She also participates in the club as a volunteer in various capacities.

Previous	OCM 15/2017
ltems	
Directorate	Office of the CEO
Business Unit	Community Development
File Reference	
Applicant	City of Kalamunda
Owner	City of Kalamunda

Attachments Nil

TYPE OF REPORT

Ś

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
₳	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Strategy 1.1.1 -- Ensure the entire community has access to information, facilities and services. *Strategy 1.1.2* - Empower, support and engage all of the community.

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.2 - To provide a safe and healthy environment for community to enjoy.

Strategy - 1.2.3 Provide high quality and accessible recreational and social spaces and facilities.

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.3 - To support the active participation of local communities. *Strategy 1.3.1* - Support local communities to connect, grow and shape the future of Kalamunda.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to approve the preferred facility management model for the sporting facility located on Hartfield Park, which is currently utilised by the Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club (KDHC) and Forrestfield Tee Ball Soft Ball Association (FTBSBA).
- 2. The City of Kalamunda recommends Council approve a seasonal lease agreement for the sporting facility on Hartfield Park, with the primary winter tenant being KDHC and the primary summer tenant being the FTBSBA.
- 3. The term of the agreement is to be for a period of 12 months and is to stipulate the Management Model can be reviewed at such a time KDHC prove a synthetic hockey turf is needed, viable and sustainable.
- 4. If either KDHC and/or FTBSBA, determines not to enter into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility, by the 31 December 2022, then they will need to hire the facility in line with Council Policy.

BACKGROUND

- 5. Hartfield Park is a Class A Reserve, located in Forrestfield, on Crown Land vested with the City of Kalamunda, through a Management Order for the purposes of recreation, with the power to lease. The Reserve is the City's largest active sporting reserve, accommodating a variety of sporting and community groups.
- 6. At the 27 February 2017 Ordinary Council Meeting (OCM), Council resolved to endorse the demolition and redevelopment of the former Darling Range Pony Club facility at Hartfield Park for a new joint use / shared facility for KDHC and a yet to be determined summer user.
- 7. During the design phase of the redevelopment project, KDHC were extensively consulted to ensure that their needs were met as best practicable and were advised that a summer user were yet to be identified for the shared facility.
- 8. Throughout 2017, the City investigated the suitability of various summer users, with the FTBSBA emerging as a suitable summer user for the new facilities.
- 9. FTBSBA has compatible field configuration requirements, needed a permanent home and the location of the Club to 62 Hartfield Road would maximise usage of the facility over the full year.
- 10. In 2018, in accordance with the City's Community Group Lease Policy, the City proposed a six month seasonal lease agreement management model to KDHC and FTBSBA for the facility.
- 11. KDHC indicated they would be willing to share the facility, however sought to be the primary tenant on a 12 month lease. A key rationale for their request was to a 12 month lease would assist to facilitate the funding and support for a synthetic hockey turf.
- 12. At the same time, FTBSBA indicated a requirement for a 6 month seasonal lease agreement, to ensure that they had security of tenure and equal facility access and rights, similar to many other sporting clubs in the City.
- 13. As a result, during mid-2018, the City investigated various facility management models, which were discussed with both KDHC and FTBSBA, however, agreement could not be reached on the basis that KDHC maintained a preference, for a 12 month lease, whilst FTBSBA sought the security of a 6 month lease.

- 14. As an interim arrangement, until such time as an agreed management model was determined, FTBSBA agreed to entering into a written agreement known as a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with KDHC to access the facility in summer. KDHC then became a 12-month lease holder with the City from April 2019, when the new facilities were completed.
- 15. In March 2020, the City advised KDHC that the term of the current lease was due to end and the lease would enter into monthly holding over status, as per clause 19 of the lease . The City was, at that time, in the process of drafting a new community lease document.
- 16. A key rationale of the KDHC's request for a 12 month lease was its desire for a synthetic hockey turf. In order to validate the need for such a development KDHC, with financial assistance from the City, developed a business case into the need for synthetic hockey turf, as the outcomes of the study could have influenced facility management models.
- 17. The business case did not demonstrate a need for a synthetic hockey turf development for a minimum of 10 plus years.
- As a result the interim management arrangements continued until April 2021, when KDHC terminated the MOU agreement with FTBSBA, citing unauthorised access of the facility outside of the agreed MOU, and disagreement over the apportionment of outgoings.
- 19. This highlighted that whilst an MOU agreement was suitable as an interim arrangement, it was not considered a viable long term solution, as FTBSBA did not have security of tenure, nor equal rights as KDHC.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 20. During 2021 the City facilitated discussions between KDHC and FTBSBA to resolve this matter, including hosting two workshops and several meetings, which the Mayor attended.
- 21. During the workshops, various facility management models for the facility were considered by all parties. The models considered included:
 - a) Hire Facility Managed by the City;
 - b) Seasonal Lease Agreement between the City and KDHC / FTBSBA; and
 - c) 12 month lease between the City and KDHC and an MOU between KDHC and FTBSBA.

- 22. As an outcome of these workshops in late 2021 and early 2022, KDHC and FTBSBA separately progressed discussions on shared usage of the facility and playing fields, to inform an agreed facility management model.
- 23. In June 2022, in order to reach a mutual resolution on this matter, the City requested KDHC and FTBSBA submit their preferred facility management models to the City, so that a permanent model could be determined.
- 24. In response to the City's request KDHC and FTBSBA advised the following:
 - a) KDHC advised they preferred an alternative facility management model to those previously outlined. KDHC refer to this model as a "Heads of Agreement". This model involves KDHC being the primary tenant of the facility on a year-round lease agreement with the City. The FTBSBA's usage would be managed through a licence agreement with the primary tenant being KDHC.
 - b) FTBSBA advised that they did not support the "Heads of Agreement" model and subsequently requested a 6-month seasonal shared lease to ensure they have equal facility access and rights.
- 25. As no mutual resolution on this matter has been reached between KDHC and FTBSBA, Council must now consider and determine an appropriate facility management model for the facility, in line with the Council adopted Master Plans for the site and the Community Group Leases Policy.

Hartfield Park Master Plan (HPMP) Stage 1 and 2 – Shared Usage Analysis

- 26. The HPMP Stage 1 identified the need for the City to transition Hartfield Park sporting clubs from single use facilities to co-located shared facilities. The co-location and sharing of facilities is a key industry planning principal that formed the basis of the HPMP Stage 1.
- 27. This approach was reaffirmed through the HPMP Stage 2 Facility Colocation Strategy, which was adopted by Council (OCM 259/2021) in August 2021. This will transition the majority of sporting users from single use sporting facilities to co-located / shared facilities, on seasonal lease agreements. This also aligns with the facility management models implemented for sporting clubs at the City's other sporting reserves.
- 28. The usage of sporting field space is managed by the City in line with the City's Sporting Reserve Usage Policy, which provides in season sporting codes with priority access, during their traditional sporting seasons.

- 29. In summary, the benefits of shared facility usage include:
 - a) Prevents facility duplication and over provision.
 - b) Increased facility utilisation, year-round.
 - c) Cost sharing opportunities for users.
 - d) Provides opportunities to provide fit for purpose facilities, given increased funding opportunities.
 - e) Provides an affordable and sustainable development approach to achieve modern sporting facilities across the site.

Community Group Leases Policy

- 30. The City's Community Group Leases Policy is committed to providing longterm leased facilities to community groups within the City to support their activities for the benefit of the community.
- 31. The Policy states that Community Groups who are unwilling to sign a Lease Agreement, will be required to hire their facilities in accordance with the City's Casual Facility Hire Agreement at the rate applicable for that facility.
- 32. In 2022/23, the City is seeking to undertake a review of the current Community Group Lease Policy.

Preferred Management Model

- In assessment of the various suitable facility management models, the
 City's Community Groups Leases Policy and Council's adoption of HPMP
 Stage 1 and Stage 2, the preferred management model for the facility is a
 Seasonal Lease Agreement for KDHC and FTBSBA.
- 34. A seasonal lease agreement will provide both KDHC and FTBSBA with equal access, security of tenure and equal rights to the facility, thus ensuring it is well utilised year round.
- 35. All out of season access to the facility is to be negotiated between all parties as part of the development of the lease schedules.
- 36. The preferred seasonal lease agreement model, could be trialled for a period of 12 months, allowing for a review with KDHC and FTBSBA to occur upon its conclusion, which will align with the City's scheduled review of all commercial and community leases.
- 37. In light of the KDHC's desire to develop a synthetic hockey turf, a clause could be included into the lease schedule, to enable a review of the management models at such a time that KDHC prove a synthetic hockey turf is needed, viable and sustainable.

- 38. Should the synthetic hockey turf eventuate, it would trigger the need for the City to review the sporting field layouts, usage and membership trends for FTBSBA and investigate available and suitable field space across Hartfield Park to accommodate any affected usage.
- 39. In the event either KDHC and/or FTBSBA determine not to enter into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility by the 31 December 2022, then they will need to hire the facility in line with Council Policy.

APPLICABLE LAW

40. Nil.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 41. Service 9 Community Group Leases
- 42. Service 12 Sporting Reserve Usage

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 43. During the design phase of the facility and playing fields, KDHC were regularly advised that a summer user was yet to be identified and extensively consulted to ensure that their needs were met as best practicable.
- 44. During 2017 and 2018, the City held five meetings involving KDHC and/or FTBSBA to workshop and negotiate key facility management arrangements.
- 45. In 2021, the City held a further two meetings involving KDHC and FTBSBA to resolve their sharing issues and again workshop facility management models. Further to this, KDHC and FTBSBA individually meet on several occasions.
- 46. Hockey WA were also consulted and advised the City's preferred facility management model is suitable and seasonal lease agreements are common for local grass based hockey facilities.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

47. A key financial risk to the City in not co-locating / sharing community groups and sporting clubs together, is that it will lead to the continual development of single use facilities, which is not a financially sustainable model for all parties, due to facility duplication and underutilisation.

- 48. In the event the facility becomes a 'fee for hire' facility, then the City will need to assume responsibility for the management of this facility, similar to other hire facilities in the City. This will have a cost implications for the City being:
 - a) increased maintenance costs associated to the facility over time.
 - b) the City meeting all utility charges, noting these would be recovered through a hire fee.
 - c) officer resources required to manage facility access in an equitable manner.

SUSTAINABILITY

49. Collocation of community and sporting groups is a sustainable approach to community facility development for the City and enables contemporary and modern community facilities to be provided for the whole community. Collocation ensures community facilities are utilised to their maximum capacity across sporting seasons.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk: Failure to develop a seasonal lease agreement may set a precedence for other sporting clubs at Hartfield Park to abandon the HPMP Stage 2 – Facility Colocation Strategy resulting in requests for single use facilities

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Significant	Unlikely	Medium
Action/Strategy		
The City develop a suitable seasonal lease agreement for KDHC and		
FTBSBC.		

51.

50.

Risk: KDHC and/or FTBSBA are unwilling to enter into a seasonal lease agreement resulting in not having access to a facility.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating	
Moderate	Possible	Medium	
Action/Strategy	·		

As per the City's Community Group Lease Policy, in the event that a community group, does not accept the terms of a lease, then the facility shall be provided based on the City's Casual Hire Agreement.

CONCLUSION

- 52. The City has extensively workshopped facility management models with KDHC and FTBSBA across several years.
- 53. A mutual agreement between KDHC and FTBSBA has been unable to be reached.
- 54. The preferred management model for the facility is for a Seasonal Lease Agreement to be developed between KDHC and FTBSBA for a 12 month period, this is concluded from;
 - a) an assessment of the facility management models;
 - b) alignment to the City's Community Groups Leases Policy;
 - c) Council's adoption of HPMP Stage 1 (2010) and Stage 2; and
 - d) To ensure equal equity and rights between parties.
- 55. In the event either KDHC and/or FTBSBA, determines not to enter into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility, by the 31 December 2022, then they will need to hire the facility in line with Council Policy.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

Cr O'Connor foreshadowed an amendment to the recommendation and provided a rationale.

The recommendation did not receive a mover and LAPSED

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- 1. APPROVE the City of Kalamunda entering into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility located at 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield, between the Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club (as the winter tenant) and the Forrestfield Tee Base Soft Ball Association (as the summer tenant).
- 2. APPROVE the lease agreement term being for a 12 month period, to align with the City of Kalamunda's scheduled review of all commercial and community leases.
- 3. APPROVE that in the event either Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club and/or Forrestfield Tee Base Soft Ball Association, determines not to enter into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility, by the 31 December 2022, then they will need to hire the facility in line with the Community Group Leases Policy.

4. NOTE that a clause will be included within the lease terms, stipulating that the Management Model can be reviewed at such a time that Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club prove that a synthetic hockey turf is needed, viable and sustainable.

Moved:

Seconded:

Vote: LAPSED

RESOLVED OCM130/2022

That Council:

- 1. APPROVE the City of Kalamunda entering into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility located at 62 Hartfield Road, Forrestfield, between the Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club (as the winter tenant) and the Forrestfield Tee Base Soft Ball Association (as the summer tenant).
- 2. APPROVE the lease agreement term being for a 12 month period, to align with the City of Kalamunda's scheduled review of all commercial and community leases.
- 3. APPROVE that in the event either Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club and/or Forrestfield Tee Base Soft Ball Association, determines not to enter into a seasonal lease agreement for the facility, by the 31 December 2022, then they will need to hire the facility in line with the Community Group Leases Policy.
- 4. NOTE that a clause will be included within the lease terms, stipulating that the Management Model can be reviewed at such a time that Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club prove that a synthetic hockey turf is needed, viable and sustainable.

5. REQUEST the CEO to draft a Hockey and Tee Ball Advisory Committee (HaTBAC) Terms of Reference that covers a two-year period for Council's consideration and adoption.

Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor

- Seconded: Cr Brooke O'Donnell
- Vote:ForAgainstCr Geoff StallardCr Mary CannonCr Kellie MiskiewiczCr Brooke O'DonnellCr Sue BilichCr Lisa CooperCr Dylan O'ConnorCr Andrew OsentonCr Kathy RitchieCr Margaret Thomas

CARRIED (9/1)

10.4.2. State Government Grant Applications - Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund and Club Night Light Program

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Cr Geoff Stallard declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item 10.4.2 State Government Grant Applications - Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund and Club Night light Program. Cr Stallard is a member of the Forrestfield Bowls Club and the Pickering Brook Sportsman's Club. Both club are applicants.

9.2.5 Cr Brook O'Donnell declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item 10.4.2 State Government Grant Applications - Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund and club Night light Program. Cr O'Donnell has a son who plays tball and she is a previous member of the executive committee of the club. She also participates in the club as a volunteer in various capacities.

Previous	OCM 235/2020
ltems	
Directorate	Office of the CEO
Business Unit	Leisure Planning
File Reference	
Applicant	City of Kalamunda
Owner	City of Kalamunda

Attachments Nil

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
¢.	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.1 - To be a community that advocates, facilities and provides quality lifestyles choices.

Strategy 1.1.1 -- Ensure the entire community has access to information, facilities and services.

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.2 - To provide a safe and healthy environment for community to enjoy.

Strategy - 1.2.3 Provide high quality and accessible recreational and social spaces and facilities.

Strategy 1.2.2 - Advocate and promote healthy lifestyle choices by encouraging the community to become more active citizens.Strategy - 1.2.1 Facilitate a safe community environment.

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.3 - To support the active participation of local communities. *Strategy 1.3.1* - Support local communities to connect, grow and shape the future of Kalamunda.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to seek Council endorsement for three (3) grant funding applications to the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC) for the following 2023/24 grant funding round programs being:
 - a) the Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund (CSRFF); and
 - b) the Club Night Light Program (CNLP).
- 2. The City is seeking to submit to DLGSC the following grant applications in priority order being:

CSRFF Program (Part 1)

1. Hartfield Park Master Plan (HPMP) Stage 2A – Co-location of Bowls and Tennis project.

CNLP Program (Part 2)

- 1. Kalamunda and Districts Hockey Club (KDHC) Sports floodlighting project; and
- 2. Pickering Brook Sports Club (PBSC) Sports floodlighting project.

3. CSRFF Program (Part 1)

It is recommended that Council:

- ENDORSE an application from the City of Kalamunda to the Community Sporting and Recreation Facility Fund, Forward Planning Round for an external funding contribution of \$666,667 towards the implementation of Hartfield Park Master Plan Stage 2A – Co-location of Bowls and Tennis project.
- 2. NOTE that this project is ranked for the purposes of the Community Sporting and Recreation Facility Fund program as the first and only priority within the City for the 2023/24 CSRFF Forward Planning Round.

CNLP Program (Part 2)

It is recommended that Council:

- ENDORSE the submission of two Club Night Light Program (CNLP) applications in the 2022/23 Annual Round and rank them in the priority order of:
 - 1. Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club sports floodlighting project
 - 2. Pickering Brook Sports Club sports floodlighting project
- 2. NOTE in the event of successful CNLP funding applications, amounts of up to \$126,666 and \$27,917 for the KDHC and PBSC respectively for their sports lighting projects will need to be considered as part of the City's 2023/24 annual budget deliberation process.

BACKGROUND

- 4. The State Government through the DLGSC provides financial assistance to community groups and local governments to develop basic infrastructure for sports and recreation, through two programs being the CSRFF and the CNLP.
- 5. In 2021, the State Government established the CNLP, which will invest \$10 million over four years and is specifically for the construction of sports floodlighting projects.
- The CSRFF program currently has a funding allocation of \$12.5 million for the 2023/24 financial year, for all other basic sports related infrastructure developments, such as, new pavilions, new ovals or unisex changerooms.
- 7. The programs aim to increase participation in sports and recreation with an emphasis on increasing physical activity through the provision of well-planned facilities.

- 8. The maximum grants available to the City of Kalamunda for the programs will be no greater than one third of the total estimated project cost.
- 9. Applications for the programs are to be submitted to DLGSC by 4pm on the 30 September 2022.
- It is anticipated that successful applicants will be advised in January /
 February 2023, with funds to be expended by June 2024 for annual grants or across multiple financial years for forward planning grants.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

CSRFF Application One – HPMP Stage 2A – Colocation of Bowls and Tennis

- 11. At the November 2020, Ordinary Council Meeting (OCM), Council resolved (OCM 235/2020) to leverage the \$2 million Federal Government funding commitment at Hartfield Park through the CSRFF program for priority projects, identified through the HPMP Stage 2 – Facilities Colocation Strategy.
- 12. The City of Kalamunda was subsequently successful in leveraging the Federal Government funding by receiving a CSRFF grant of \$620,000 for the development of little athletics infrastructure and unisex changerooms for AFL / Little Athletics and Rugby League. The City was also encouraged to reapply for the remaining priority projects from HPMP Stage 2A being the colocation of Bowls and Tennis.
- 13. It is noted that during the 2022 Federal Election the City secured a further funding commitment of \$5.4m towards the HPMP Stage 2. A CSRFF application for the colocation of Bowls and Tennis, will further leverage the Federal Government funding commitments for the site, which will allow more projects to be achieved and more Clubs to benefit.
- 14. As identified through the HPMP Stage 2 Facilities Colocation Strategy, the sharing of sporting facilities is a key requirement for funding bodies as it maximises facility utilisation and asset investment. Overall, this approach is the most affordable manner for the City to provide modern facilities for all users, particularly at Hartfield Park.
- 15. As a result, a key recommendation of the HPMP Stage 2 is the colocation of both Bowls and Tennis into a shared use facility. The project involves:
 - a) the redevelopment and extension of the existing bowls facility to provide contemporary facilities for both Bowls and Tennis;
 - b) provision of two new tennis courts with LED sports lighting for training; and
 - c) minor car parking improvements.

- 16. The primary users of the site are the Forrestfield and Districts Bowling Club and the Forrestfield Tennis Club, who have a combined estimated membership of 287 persons.
- 17. The total estimated project cost is \$2 million. The CSRFF program allows the project to receive up to one third funding towards the total estimated project cost.

CNLP Application One - KDHC - Sports Floodlighting

- 18. The KDHC applied through the City's Capital Grants Program in 2021 for funding assistance for the installation of new sports lighting for training on one hockey field at Hartfield Park.
- 19. In February 2022, the Strategic Sport and Recreation Committee (SSRC) supported the need for the project, consideration of a future City funding contribution, and the submission of a CNLP application in September 2022.
- 20. The primary users of the site are the KDHC and the Forrestfield Tee Base Soft Ball Association (FTBSBA). The KDHC has an estimated membership of 387 persons.
- 21. The existing sports floodlighting on site includes two lighting towers and luminaires to 50 lux lighting, which only provides a limited area for training.
- 22. The aim of the project is to increase the amount of lit space available and provide lighting to Australian Standards for outdoor hockey training (250 lux).
- 23. As a result of the insufficient existing sports floodlighting available and the number of players, training is restricted for safety reasons to the limited area of the field that is lit. Users have managed this by spreading team training sessions over several nights to best utilise the lit area of the field. Operating in this manner has increased the burden on the KDHC volunteers and operations, which are not sustainable for them into the future.

- 24. The project involves the installation of four new sports lighting towers, LED luminaries, Halytech lighting control system and upgrade of the site main switch board.
- 25. FTBSBA have endorsed the project as the lighting towers are located on the periphery of the Reserve, thus not interfering with the clubs sports field layout.
- 26. Overall, the project will lead to an increase in physical activity, as it will enable the relevant KDHC to extend their hours of training and meet their future growth expectations.
- 27. The total estimated project cost is \$370,000. The CNLP program allows the project to receive up to one third of the total estimated project cost.

CNLP Application Two – PBSC – Sports Floodlighting

- 28. The PBSC applied through the City's Capital Grants Program in 2021 for funding assistance for the installation of new sports floodlighting on George Spriggs Reserve, Pickering Brook.
- 29. In February 2022, the SSRC supported the need for the project, consideration of a future City funding contribution (dependent on a successful external grant funding applications) and the submission of a CNLP application in September 2022.
- 30. The primary user of the existing sports floodlighting and Reserve is the Pickering Brook Football Club (PBFC), who are a member of the overarching PBSC that lease the site. The PBFC has an estimated membership of 68 persons, across two teams.
- 31. The existing sports floodlighting currently consists of six floodlighting towers of varying heights and quality across the site. An asset lighting audit that was completed in 2016 identified that the existing sports floodlighting does not meet the required Australian Standards for large ball sports training activities (50 lux), resulting in a need to upgrade the site.
- 32. As a result of the insufficient sports floodlighting available, training is restricted for safety reasons to the limited areas of the field that are lit. This restricts the PBFC's ability to safely utilise the entire Reserve for training. Due to this the PBFC train directly under the limited lighting available, resulting in the Reserve experiencing increased wear and tear issues.
- 33. The aim of the project is to increase the amount of lit space available by lighting the entire oval for training purposes and to provide the PBFC with the ability to host night matches (100 lux).

- 34. The demand for night matches is increasing in frequency as a strategy by State Sporting Associations to attract greater participation in sport. The hosting of night matches presents an opportunity to the PBSC to improve its own sustainability and enhance its social connection to the wider community.
- 35. The project involves the replacement of the existing lighting infrastructure and installation of four new sports lighting towers, LED luminaries, Halytech lighting control system and upgrade of the site main switch board.
- 36. Overall, the project will lead to an increase in physical activity, as it will enable the PBFC to extend their hours of training, host night matches and meet their future growth expectations.

DLGSC Local Government Assessment

- 37. The DLGSC requires the City to assess and rank each application in its locality in priority, relative to the funding program priorities. DLGSC then undertake their own assessment and approval process against the programs funding criteria.
- 38. The two CNLP projects have been ranked in the above order following the SSRC and City's assessment, which is based on the following criteria:
 - a. SSRC assessment and prioritisation process
 - b. Alignment to the CNLP's assessment criteria; and
 - c. Level of community benefit to the City for each project.
- 39. In summary, both projects strongly align to the CNLP criteria however the KDHC project is ranked higher. This is due to the higher number of participants who will benefit and that it will greatly reduce the burden on KDHC volunteers who are currently heavily modifying training sessions and team scheduling.

APPLICABLE LAW

40. *Section 5.56 of the Local Government Act 1995* (WA) requires that the local government plan for the future of the district.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 41. Capital Grants Clubs & Community Groups (Governance 11).
- 42. Sports Floodlighting Policy (Service 13).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- The HPMP Stage 2 was adopted by Council in August 2021 (OCM 259/2021), following a community engagement and internal review process. The colocation of Bowls and Tennis has been endorsed by FDBC and FTC.
- 44. The design for the installation of new sports lighting for the KDHC has been reviewed by the City's relevant Technical Officers. This project has been endorsed by the KDHC and FTBSBA.
- 45. The design for the installation of new sports lighting for the PBSC has been reviewed by the City's relevant Technical Officers. This project has been endorsed by the PBSC and PBFC.
- 46. The DLGSC has advised all projects are eligible for the respective CSRFF and CNLP's.
- 47. Should the funding applications be successful with DLGSC, further consultation will be undertaken with the relevant site stakeholders.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

48. The funding implications for each grant program including the City of Kalamunda's funding contribution towards each project is outlined below:

49. **CSRFF - HPMP Stage 2A – Colocation of Bowls and Tennis**

An amount of \$1.795 million is included in the City's LTFP across the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years towards this project, as per the below funding split being:

Organisation	Contributions ex GST
CSRFF (State)	\$666,667
City	\$0
Federal Government (2019 - \$2m Commitment)	\$538,000
*Federal Government (2022 - \$5.4m Commitment)	\$795,333
*Total Estimated Project Cost	\$2,000,000

*Note: The remaining \$5.4m Federal Government funding allocation will be determined separately.

- 50. The City's financial contribution towards the project would be subject to finalisation of the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial year budgets and a successful outcome of the CSRFF application or attaining other significant external funding opportunities.
- 51. If the CSRFF application is successful, then funding will be listed for consideration as part of the City's 2023/24 annual budget deliberation process. The CSRFF grant may be acquitted across multiple financial years, upon agreement with DLGSC.
- 52. If the CSRFF application is unsuccessful or the full amount is not attained then, Council would need to consider whether to:
 - a) fund the full amount of the shortfall from municipal funding being up to \$666,667;
 - b) fund the full amount of the shortfall from the Federal Government being up to \$666,667;
 - c) jointly fund the full amount of the shortfalls between City and Federal Government being up to \$333,333 each;
 - d) not progress the project in the 2023/24 financial year and reapply for funding through the CSRFF program at the next available opportunity being September 2023 with funding then available in the 2024/25 financial year.

53. **CNLP - KDHC - Sports Floodlighting**

An amount of \$370,000 is currently included in the City's LTFP across the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years towards this project, as per the below proposed funding split being:

Organisation	Contributions ex GST
CNLP (State)	\$123,333
City	\$126,667
KDHC	\$120,000
Total Estimated Project Cost	\$370,000

- 54. The City's financial contribution towards the project would be subject to finalisation of the 2023/2024 annual budget and a successful outcome of the CNLP application or attainment of other significant external funding opportunities.
- 55. If the CNLP application is successful, then City funding will be listed for consideration as part of the City's 2023/24 annual budget deliberation process and must be acquitted by 15 June 2024.

- 56. If the CNLP application is unsuccessful or the full amount is not attained then, Council would need to consider whether to:
 - a) fund the full amount of the shortfall from municipal funding being up to \$123,333;
 - b) require the KDHC to fund the full amount of the shortfall being up to \$123,333 (which is unlikely feasible);
 - c) jointly fund the full amount of the shortfalls between the City and KDHC being up to \$61,666 each; and
 - d) not progress the project in the 2023/24 financial year and reapply for funding through the CNLP program at the next available opportunity being September 2023 with funding then available in the 2024/25 financial year.

57. **CNLP - PBSC - Sports Floodlighting**

An amount of \$335,000 is currently included in the City's LTFP for the 2023/24 financial year towards this project, as per the below proposed funding split being:

Organisation	Contributions ex GST
CNLP (State)	\$111,666
City	\$27,917
Building Better Regions Fund (BBRF) – (Federal) – Round 6	\$167,500
PBSC	\$27,917
Total Estimated Project Cost	\$335,000

- 58. The PBSC lodged a BBRF application, based on the above funding split in March 2022, with an outcome currently anticipated in late 2022.
- 59. The City's financial contribution towards the project would be subject to finalisation of the 2023/2024 financial year budget and a successful outcome of the CNLP application or other significant external funding opportunities (i.e. BBRF).
- 60. If the CNLP application is successful, then City funding will be listed for consideration as part of the City's 2023/24 annual budget deliberation process and must be acquitted by 15 June 2024.

- 61. If the CNLP application is unsuccessful or the full amount is not attained then, Council would need to consider whether to:
 - a) fund the full amount of the shortfall from municipal funding being up to \$111,666;
 - b) require the PBSC to fund the full amount of the shortfall being up to \$111,666 (which is unlikely feasible);
 - c) jointly fund the full amount of the shortfalls between the City and PBSC being up to \$55,833 each; and
 - d) not progress the project in the 2023/24 financial year and reapply for funding through the CNLP program at the next available opportunity being September 2023 with funding then available in the 2024/25 financial year.

SUSTAINABILITY

Social Implications

62. The provision of high-quality community sport and recreation facilities is essential in developing a positive sense of community and health wellbeing.

Economic Implications

63. The implementation of the three applications will likely provide local job opportunities and provide increased economic activity to the local community during the construction phase.

Environmental Implications

- 64. The sports floodlighting projects will install LED sports floodlighting which provides environmental benefits and potential operational savings to the user groups.
- 65. During the detailed design phase of the new collocated Bowls and Tennis, facility environmental initiatives will be further considered within the project budget, such as solar panels and batteries.

RISK MANAGEMENT

66.

Risk: That the CSRFF applications are unsuccessful.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating	
Moderate	Possible	Medium	
Action/Strategy			
Detailed funding a	pplication aligned to	he grant funding criteria will be	e

submitted to DLGSC. If unsuccessful, Council and the relevant sporting clubs would need to reconsider the proposed funding strategies, including consideration of a further City and / or Club contribution and / or determination of reapplying in the next available CSRFF or CNLP funding rounds.

CONCLUSION

- 67. The City is seeking to submit the following grant applications in priority order to the below DLGSC funding programs: CSRFF Program (Part 1)
 - 1. Hartfield Park Master Plan (HPMP) Stage 2A Co-location of Bowls and Tennis project.

CNLP Program (Part 2)

- 1. Kalamunda and Districts Hockey Club (KDHC) Sports floodlighting project; and
- 2. Pickering Brook Sports Club (PBSC) Sports floodlighting project.

68. The two projects have been ranked in the above order due to the:

- a) SSRC assessment and prioritisation process;
- b) The City's CSRFF aligned assessment matrix; and
- c) Level of community benefit for the projects given the number users affected.
- 69. In summary, it is recommended that Council endorse the submission of one CSRFF grant application and two CNLP grant applications to DLGSC.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM131/2022

Community Sporting and Recreation Facility Fund Program (Part 1)

That Council:

- 1. ENDORSE an application from the City of Kalamunda to the Community Sporting and Recreation Facility Fund, Forward Planning Round for an external funding contribution of \$666,667 towards the implementation of Hartfield Park Master Plan Stage 2A – Co-location of Bowls and Tennis project.
- 2. NOTE that this project is ranked for the purposes of the Community Sporting and Recreation Facility Fund program as the first and only priority within the City for the 2023/24 CSRFF Forward Planning Round.

Moved: Cr Kathy Ritchie

Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

RESOLVED OCM132/2022

Club Night Light Program (Part 2)

That Council:

1.	ENDORSE the submission of two Club Night Light Program applications in the 2023/24 Annual Round and rank them in the priority order of: 1. One - Kalamunda Districts Hockey Club – sports lighting project 2. Two - Pickering Brook Sports Club – sports lighting project
2.	NOTE in the event of successful Club Night Light Program funding applications, City funding amounts of up to \$126,666 and \$27,917 for the respective projects will need to be considered as part of the City's 2023/24 annual budget deliberation process.
Moved:	Cr Kathy Ritchie
Seconded:	Cr Sue Bilich
Vote:	CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)
10.5. **Chief Executive Officer Reports**

10.5.1. **Draft Monthly Financial Statements to 31August 2022**

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

	Previous		N/A	
	ltems Directora Business File Refer Applicant Owner	Unit ence	Fina	oorate Services ncial Services SRR-006
	Attachme	ents	1. 2.	Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 31 August 2022 [10.5.1.1 - 1 page] Statement of Net Current Funding Position as at 31
ТҮРЕ	OF REPORT			August 2022 [10.5.1.2 - 1 page]
	Advocacy			uncil is advocating on behalf of the community to evel of government/body/agency
	Executive	sett		uncil is undertaking its substantive role of direction nd oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans gets
	Information	For	Coun	cil to note
¢.	Legislative	Poli imp nati app issu	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes, and Policies. When the Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licenses, other permits or licenses issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal	

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance. *Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance. *Strategy 4.1.2* - Build an effective and efficient service-based organisation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with the Statutory Financial Statements for the period ended 31 August 2022.
- 2. The Statutory Financial Statements report on the activity of the City of Kalamunda (City) with the comparison of the period's performance against the original budget adopted by the Council on 27 June 2022 for the 2022/2023 financial year.
- 3. It is recommended Council receives the draft Monthly Statutory Financial Statements for the period ended 31 August 2022, which comprise:
 - a) Statement of Financial Activity (Nature or Type);
 - b) Net Current Funding Position, note to the financial report

BACKGROUND

4. The Statement of Financial Activity (Attachment 1), incorporating various sub-statements, has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government Act 1995 (Act)* and Regulation 34 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996*.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 5. The Act requires the Council to adopt a percentage or value to be used in reporting variances against the Budget. Council has adopted the reportable variances of 10% or \$50,000 whichever is greater.
- 6. The opening funding position in the Statement of Financial Activity reflects the unaudited surplus carried forward from 2021/2022.
- 7. The draft report provided is unaudited and subject to change for the below year-end entries:
 - a) Capital projects are at a point of finalisation which can impact on asset categories and depreciation;
 - b) Provisions for staff leave entitlements have not been finalised;
 - c) June 2022 Overhead allocations have not been finalised;
 - d) Audited results of the Eastern Metropolitan Regional Council (EMRC) of which the City owns a substantial percentage of equity have not been finalised;
 - e) Adjustments related to the Australian Accounting Standards.
 - f) Potential audit adjustments resulting from the final audit by the Office of the Auditor General.

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY

Draft Statement of Financial Activity by Nature and Type for the period ended 31 August 2022

8. This Statement reveals a net result surplus of \$40,566,158 compared to the budget for the same period of \$33,551,262.

Operating Revenue

- 9. Total Revenue excluding rates is over budget by \$559,647. This is made up as follows:
 - a) Operating Grants, Subsidies and Contributions are over budget by \$157,398. The variance is mainly attributable to the Financial Assistance Grant received in August 2022. The variance is considered to be a timing issue.
 - b) Fees and Charges are over budget by \$183,330. This mainly rates to rates admin charges for instalment plans.
 - c) Interest earnings are over budget by \$240,555. The variance is mainly due to the rates instalment plan interests.
 - d) Other Revenue is under budget by \$36,401. The variance is mainly due to the fire prevention work penalties and considered as a timing issue.

Operating Expenditure

- 10. Total expenditure is under budget by \$1,620,846. The significant variances within the individual categories are as follows:
 - a) Employment Costs are under budget by \$554,450, which is primarily due to vacant positions and the aggregate result of minor variances in several business units.
 - b) Materials and Contracts are under budget by \$624,038. The variance is mainly due to the timing of building maintenance costs and infrastructure maintenance costs.
 - c) Utilities are under budget by \$759, the variance is mainly due to the aggregate result of minor variances in several business units.
 - d) Depreciation, although a non-cash cost, is tracking under budget, reporting a variance of \$362,098.
 - e) Interest and Insurance expenses are tracking below the reportable variance threshold.
 - f) Other expenditure is over budget by \$12,865. The variance is primarily due to the timing of donations given to the community groups.

Investing Activities

Non-operating Grants and Contributions

11. The non-operating grants and contributions are over budget by \$373,805.The variance is mainly due to the timing of receiving grant funding related to various roads capital projects.

Capital Expenditure

- 12. The total Capital Expenditure on Property, Plant, Equipment, and Infrastructure Assets (excluding Capital Work in Progress) is under budget by \$3,907,394. This is considered to be a timing issue.
- 13. Capital works-in-progress expenditure of \$2,168 represents the costs expended on Forrestfield Industrial Area Scheme Stage 1 and CELL 9 Wattle Grove development. The relevant expenditure is funded by the Forrestfield Industrial Area Scheme Stage 1 reserve account and the CELL 9 trust account. These assets once constructed will be passed over to the City for management.

Financing Activities

14. The amounts attributable to financing activities show a variance of\$593,865 which is mainly due to the developer contributions and reserve transfers.

Rates Revenues

15. Rates generation is under budget with a variance of \$48,341.

Statement of Net Current Funding Position as of 31 August 2022

- 16. The commentary on the net current funding position is based on a comparison of August 2022 to the August 2021 actuals.
- 17. Net Current Assets (Current Assets less Current Liabilities) total \$61 million. The restricted cash position is \$24.6 million which is higher than the previous year's balance of \$24.5 million. The variance is mainly due to the increased reserve balance in unexpended capital works and the specific purpose grants reserve.
- 18. The following graph indicates the financial institutions where the City has investments as of 31 August 2022;





*Financial Institutions with Investments in the Fossil Fuel Industry



- 20. Trade and other receivables outstanding comprise rates and sundry debtors totalling \$20.5 million.
- Sundry debtors have decreased from \$433,073 to \$175,830, of which
 \$50,473 consists of current debt due within 30 days. Details are contained in the Debtors and Creditors Report to Council.
- 22. Receivables Other represents \$7.2 million including:a) Emergency Service Levy receivables \$3.2 million;b) Receivables sanitation \$3.2 million
- 23. Provisions for annual and long service leave have decreased by \$2K to \$4.5 million when compared to the previous year. The 2021/2022 end-of-the-year leave provision adjustments are pending at the time of presenting this report.

APPLICABLE LAW

24. The Local Government Act 1995 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.

APPLICABLE POLICY

25. Nil.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Internal Referrals

26. The City's executive and management monitor and review the underlying business unit reports which form the consolidated results presented in this report.

External Referrals

27. As noted in point 24 above, the City is required to present to the Council a monthly statement of financial activity with explanations for major variances.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

28. The City's financial position continues to be closely monitored to ensure it is operating sustainably and to allow for future capacity.

SUSTAINABILITY

Social Implications

29. Nil.

Economic Implications

30. Nil.

Environmental Implications

31. Nil.

RISK MANAGEMENT

32.

Risk: Over-spending the budget.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Moderate	Possible	Medium			
Action/Strategy					
Monthly management reports are reviewed by the City and Council.					
Procurement compliance is centrally controlled via the Finance					
Department.					

33.

ns

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Moderate	Unlikely	Low			
Action / Strategy					
The financial report is scrutinised by the City to ensure that all statutory					
requirements are met.					
Internal Audit reviews to ensure compliance with Financial Regulations.					
External Audit confirms compliance.					

CONCLUSION

34. The City's Financial Statements as of 31 August 2022 reflect the un-audited surplus carried forward from 2021/2022.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM133/2022

That Council RECEIVE the Draft Monthly Statutory Financial Statements for the period ended 31 August 2022 which comprises:

- a) Statement of Financial Activity (Nature or Type);
- b) Net Current Funding Position, note to the financial report

Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor

- Seconded: Cr Geoff Stallard
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.5.2. Debtors and Creditors Report for the period ended 31 August 2022

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous lte Directorate Business Ur File Referen Applicant Owner	nit	Fina	oorate Services ncial Services RS-002
Attachment	S	1. 2. 3.	Creditor Payments for period ended 31 August 2022 [10.5.2.1 - 30 pages] Summary of Debtors for the month of August 2022 [10.5.2.2 - 2 pages] Summary of Creditors for month of August 2022 [10.5.2.3 - 1 page]
Advocacy			il is advocating on behalf of the community to l of government/body/agency
Executive	When C	Counc and o	il is undertaking its substantive role of direction oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans
Information	For Cou	incil t	o note
Legislative	Policies impacts natural applica issued	a. Whe s a pe justic tions, under	pting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes, and en Council determines a matter that directly rson's rights and interests where the principles of æ apply. Examples include town planning building licenses, other permits or licenses other Legislation or matters that could be peal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031
Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads
Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance.
Strategy 4.1.1 - Provide good governance.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TYPE

ŧ.

1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with the list of payments made from Municipal and Trust Fund Accounts in August 2022, in

accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13).

- 2. The Debtors and Creditors report provides Council with payments made from Municipal and Trust accounts together with outstanding debtors for the month of August 2022.
- 3. It is recommended that Council:
 - a) Receive the list of payments made from the Municipal and Trust Fund Accounts in August 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13); and
 - b) Receive the outstanding debtors and creditors report for the month of August 2022.

BACKGROUND

- 4. Trade Debtors and Creditors are subject to strict monitoring and control procedures.
- 5. In accordance with *the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13) reporting on payments made from Municipal Fund and Trust Fund must occur monthly.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

Debtors

- 6. Sundry debtors as of 31 August 2022 were \$175,830. This includes \$50,473 of current debts and \$16,563 unallocated credits (excess or overpayments).
- 7. Invoices over 30 days total \$29,974 debts of significance:
 - a) Forrestfield United Soccer Club, \$3,562, Utilities;
 - b) Trustee for Serenitas Communities, \$1,626, Health Services Fees; and
 - c) Kalamunda District Rugby Union Club, \$1,260, Utilities.
- 8. Invoices over 60 days total \$16,086 debts of significance:
 - a) Private Citizen, \$4,070, Fire Break Reimbursement;
 - b) Private Citizen, \$2,915, Hazard Reduction Burn Reimbursement;
 - c) Hills District Callisthenics, \$2,769, Hall Hire; and
 - d) Kalamunda & Districts Netball Association, \$2,428, Hall Hire.
- 9. Invoices over 90 days total \$95,859 debts of significance:
 - a) Department of Education, \$82,981, Kostera Oval shared usage; and
 - b) Private Citizen, \$9,281, Fire Break Reimbursement.

Creditors

- 10. Payments totalling \$3,449,174 were made during the month of August 2022. Standard payment terms are 30 days from the end of the month, with local businesses and contractors on 14-day terms.
- 11. Significant Municipal payments (GST inclusive where applicable) made in the month were:

Supplier	Purpose	\$
Australian Tax Office	PAYG payments	566,208.74
Eastern Metropolitan Regional Council (EMRC)	Domestic waste charges – disposal fees	363,722.07
Beaver Tree Services	General tree services, under powerlines pruning for various locations.	358,686.72
AWARE Super Pty Ltd	Superannuation contributions	309,102.97
IT Vision Australia Pty Ltd	Renewal of Synergy soft and Altus ECM Licence 2022/2023	136,690.86
Synergy	Power charges – various locations	129,445.56
Fulton Hogan Industries Pty Ltd	Road materials for various locations	57,102.82
OCE Corporate Pty Ltd	Cleaning services, consumables for various locations	55,142.49

These payments total \$1,976,102.23 and represent 57% of all payments for the month.

Payroll

- 12. Salaries are paid in fortnightly cycles. A total of \$1,782,458.38 was paid in net salaries for the month of August 2022.
- 13. Details are provided in (Attachment 1) after the creditor's payment listing.

Trust Account Payments

- 14. The Trust Accounts maintained by the City of Kalamunda (City) relate to the following types:
 - a) CELL 9 Trust;
 - b) Public Open Space funds;
 - c) NBN Tower Pickering Brook Trust

15. There were no payments made from the Trust Accounts in August 2022.

APPLICABLE LAW

- 16. Regulation 12(1) of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.*
- 17. Regulation 13 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations* 1996.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 18. Debt Collection Policy S-FIN02.
- 19. Register of Delegations from Council to CEO.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Internal Referrals

20. Various business units are engaged to resolve outstanding debtors and creditors as required.

External Referrals

21. Debt collection matters are referred to the City's appointed debt collection agency when required.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

22. The City will continue to closely manage debtors and creditors to ensure optimal cash flow management.

SUSTAINABILITY

23. Nil.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Debtors

24.

Risk: The City is exposed to the potential risk of the debtor failing to make payments resulting in the disruption of cash flow.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Insignificant	Possible	Low			
Action/Strategy					
Ensure debt collections are rigorously managed.					

Creditors

25.

Risk : Adverse credit ratings due to the City defaulting on the creditor.					
Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Insignificant	Possible	Low			
Action/Strategy					
Ensure all disputes are resolved in a timely manner.					

CONCLUSION

26. Creditor payments are within the normal trend range.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM134/2022

That Council:

1. RECEIVE the list of payments made from the Municipal Accounts in August 2022 (Attachment 1) in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13).

- 2. RECEIVE the outstanding debtors and creditors report (Attachments 2 &3) for the month of August 2022.
- Moved: Cr Kathy Ritchie
- Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.5.3. Rates Debtors Report for the Period Ended 31 August 2022

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items	N/A
Directorate	Corporate Services
Business Unit	Financial Services
File Reference	FI-DRS-004
Applicant	N/A
Owner	N/A
Attachments	1. Rates Report August 2022 [10.5.3.1 - 1 page]

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
5	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (e.g., accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance.*Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance.*Strategy 4.1.2* - Build an effective and efficient service-based organisation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information on the rates collection percentage and the status of recovery actions.

- 2. The City of Kalamunda (City) levied rates for 2022/2023 on 1 July 2022 totalling \$41,664,711. As of 31 August 2022, \$23,279,570 has been collected for current and prior year outstanding rates for the August 2022 period.
- 3. It is recommended that Council receive the Rates Debtors Report for the month of August 2022 (Attachment 1).

BACKGROUND

4. Rate Notices were issued on 15 July 2022 with the following payment options available:

Options	Payment Dates				
Full	19 August				
payment	2022				
Two	19 August	23 December			
instalments	2022	2022			
Four	19 August	21 October	23 December	24 February	
instalments	2022	2022	2022	2023	

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 5. A total of 23,828 notices were issued on 15 July 2022. This consisted of 20,773 mailed rate notices, and 3,055 eRates notices. Rates Levied and Collectable for the 2022/2023 Financial Year currently total \$44,278,972.
- 6. As of 31 August 2022, a total of \$23,279,570 has been collected since Rates Notices were released, representing a collection rate of 53.71%.
- 7. A total of 8,130 ratepayers have taken up an instalment option. This is an increase from 2021/2022 where 7,576 chose an instalment option. The first due date was 19 August 2022. A total of 350 ratepayers have chosen to pay via direct debit, a significant increase from 156 in 2021/2022. Refer to the table below:

Option	Description	Number
Option 2 on Rate Notice	Two instalments	1,645
Option 3 on Rate Notice	Four instalments	6,485
A Smarter Way to Pay	Pay by Direct Debit over a	
	mutually agreed period.	227
Direct Debit	Payment to be received by April	
	2023	123
Total	Ratepayers on payment options	8,480

8.

Interim rating has now commenced for 2022/2023. To 31 August 2022 \$1,568 has been raised for interim rating revenue.

9. Call recording software has been utilised in the Rates Department since 2015, primarily for customer service purposes, as it allows calls to be reviewed for training and process improvement purposes. For the period 1 August 2022 to 31 August 2022, there was a total of 484 incoming calls and 144 outgoing calls, equating to 22.09 hours call time.

APPLICABLE LAW

10. The City collects its rates debts in accordance with the *Local Government Act 1995* Division 6 – Rates and Service Charges under the requirements of subdivision 5 – Recovery of unpaid rates and service charges.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 11. The City's rates collection procedures are in accordance with the Debt Collection Policy S-FIN02.
- The Financial Hardship Policy adopted by Council on 7 April 2020 enables the provision of Financial Assistance to those seriously impacted by Covid-19.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Internal Referrals

13. The City's Governance Unit has been briefed on the debt collection process.

External Referrals

14. The higher-level debt collection actions will be undertaken by AMPAC.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

15. The early raising of rates in July allows the City's operations to commence without delays improving cashflow, in addition to earning additional interest income.

SUSTAINABILITY

Social Implications

16. Debt collection can have implications upon those ratepayers facing financial hardship and the City must ensure equity in its debt collection policy and processes.

17. The City has "a smarter way to pay" direct debit option to help ease the financial hardship to its customers. This has proved very effective with a growing number of ratepayers taking advantage of this option. A "Smarter Way to Pay" allows ratepayers to pay smaller amounts on a continuous basis either weekly or fortnightly, helping to reduce their financial burden.

Economic Implications

18. Effective collection of all outstanding debtors leads to enhanced financial sustainability for the City.

Environmental Implications

19. The increase in the take up of eRates, as a system of Rate Notice delivery, will contribute to lower carbon emissions due to a reduction in printing and postage.

RISK MANAGEMENT

20.

Risk : Failure to collect outstanding rates and charges leading to cashflow issues within the current year.		
Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Moderate	Likely	Medium
Action/Strategy		
Ensure debt collections are rigorously maintained.		

CONCLUSION

21. With a current collection rate for the financial year of 53.71% (compared to 54.24% last year), the City continues to effectively implement its rate collection strategy and recognises more ratepayers have chosen to pay their rates via instalments and direct debit options.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM135/2022

That Council RECEIVE the Rates Debtors Report for the Period ended 31 August 2022 (Attachment 1).

- Moved: Cr Brooke O'Donnell
- Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.5.4. Kalamunda Hills Natural Attraction Strategy

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous	
ltems	
Directorate	Corporate Services
Business Unit	Economic & Cultural Services
File Reference	
Applicant	
Owner	

Attachments Nil

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
A	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.3 - To develop and enhance the City's economy. *Strategy 3.3.1* - Facilitate and support the success and growth of businesses.

Strategy 3.3.2 - Attract and enable new investment opportunities.

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.4 - To be recognised as a preferred tourism destination.

Strategy 3.4.1 - Facilitate, support and promote, activities and places to visit.

Strategy 3.4.2 - Advocate and facilitate Agri Tourism opportunities for rural properties to flourish.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to consider a motion from the Kalamunda Tourism Advisory Committee.
- 2. The Tourism Advisory Committee has recommended Council request the Chief Executive Officer to pursue a partnership with the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attraction (DBCA) to develop concept design in readiness for advocacy to gain State and Federal Government Funding.
- It is recommended that Council support the Tourism Advisory Committee's recommendation for the Chief Executive Officer pursuing a partnership with (DBCA) to support a Kalamunda Hills Natural Attraction Strategy.

BACKGROUND

- 4. The City has been in ongoing discussion with DBCA following the workshops relating to the future of the Zig Zag Scenic Drive held during 2020. The DBCA gave undertakings that they would consider working with the City to develop concept design for improving the infrastructure and surrounds of the Gooseberry Hill National park of which the Zig Zag Scenic Drive traverses.
- 5. The City has four sites that would be suitable for development they are. the Zig Zag Scenic Drive, Whistlepipe Gully and Lesmurdie Falls and Lions lookout.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 6. The Kalamunda Tourism Advisory Committee met on 1 September 2022 completing a workshop on the City's three identified natural attraction sites, all of which are under the DBCA.
- The opportunity to develop the natural area sites has been an objective of the City's Tourism Development Strategy and was referred to the Tourism Advisory Committee for consideration.

- 8. A workshop was conducted on three sites controlled by DBCA to identify how best they could be developed for tourism purposes. The remaining site is not under the DBCA and is under the control of the Department of , Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH).
- 9. The outcome of the workshop highlighted many ideas that will be forwarded to DBCA for consideration as concept designs are created.
- 10. A summary of the ideas is outlined below.

Zig Zag Scenic Drive

Opportunities Identified:

- a) Café/Function Centre situated similar to the Kalbarri skywalk with patrons exiting down the Zig Zag.
- b) Eco Toilets.
- c) Limestone brick work with grass to allow for open air cinemas.
- d) Fine dining restaurant or at least some type of public venue.
- e) A hub that several experiences could flow from: walk trails, visitor centre, café similar to Kings Park offering but smaller scale.
- f) Interpretive signage that shows the geology and history of the region, where you are and its importance.
- g) Sculptural walk based around First Nations or flora/fauna.
- h) Link walk trails through to Quarry look to hold events in the quarry potentially an opera
- i) Camping grounds which are on frames above the ground.
- j) High end daytime activities luge, zipline.
- k) Yarning Circles.
- I) Camping with custodians.
- m) Events walk the Zig Zag/Zig Zag Festival.
- n) Long table dinners.
- o) World Rally Championships.
- p) Twilight Markets.
- q) Thermal baths overlooking the view.
- r) Improve signage in general.
- s) Activation will lead to less antisocial behaviour and encourage pride in the region.
- t) Develop tours and cultural opportunities.
- u) Develop walk and cycle trails as Kalamunda identified as offering an outdoor experience.
- v) Picnic areas.

11. Lesmurdie Falls

Opportunities identified:

- a) Zip line.
- b) Rock Climbing.
- c) Nature Play area.
- d) Increased parking.

Lower Lesmurdie Falls

Opportunities identified

- a) There is less infrastructure in this site than at the head of the falls, allowing for more opportunities.
- b) Food Trucks.
- c) Nature play area.
- d) Picnic spaces grassed that can be used for functions.
- e) First Nations Culture.
- f) Make a pop-up space with chairs, tables and food trucks, capitalising on the shady areas, a positive in summer.
- g) Identify photography areas and promote perfect for Instagram trend.
- h) Increased parking.
- i) Helipad.

12. Whistlepipe Gully

Opportunities identified:

- a) A constrained site needs much more parking and toilets.
- b) Very popular with dog walkers install required infrastructure ie: bins and bags.
- c) Utilise for pop up events.
- d) Widen the trails it is very popular, and it is difficult to walk the tracks currently, they need maintenance and signage.
- e) Long table event.
- f) Utilise the lookout near the waterfall.
- On completion of the workshop, discussion with the Tourism Advisory
 Committee highlighted the need and benefit of having a tourism
 development strategy specifically for the hills natural attractions.
- 14. The Tourism Advisory Committee confirmed support for the Chief Executive Officer to work with DBCA to develop concepts for each site in readiness for advocacy at State and Federal level and made the following recommendation to Council:

The Tourism Advisory Committee recommends to Council that they agree to the development of a Tourism Development Strategy for Kalamunda Hills Natural Attractions – including Lesmurdie Falls, Whistlepipe Gully and the Zig Zag Scenic Drive.

APPLICABLE LAW

15. N/A.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 16. The City's Tourism Development Strategy adopted by Council at OCM 25 June 2019 was established to grow the City of Kalamunda as a major tourist destination with a sustainable and vibrant future.
- 17. The partnership arrangement with DBCA directly aligns with the following strategies contained in the Tourism Development Strategy:

Strategy 1: Create and maintain welcoming, inclusive and accessible facilities for visitors to enjoy the natural and built environment.

Strategy 2: Leverage and protect Kalamunda's natural beauty and award winning attractions to grow destination appeal and recognition.

18. Partnering with DBCA to promote priority key attractions will contribute directly to the City's delivery of the Tourism Development Strategy.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- The development of the City of Kalamunda Tourism Development Strategy
 2019 2025 (TDS) included extensive stakeholder and community
 engagement.
- 20. An opportunity highlighted through stakeholder engagement during the development of the TDS was the *"development of products that showcase the views over the Swan Coastal Plain"*.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 21. The City has commenced negotiating with DBCA to assess their appetite to contribute towards the design of the sites. The City will seek a contribution of up to \$10,000 from DBCA for the two sites.
- 22. It is proposed that the City contribute up to \$10,000 for the development of the two sites from the Tourism development budget.

SUSTAINABILITY

23. Any new development would be designed with the natural assets as the main component, offering sympathetic development.

RISK MANAGEMENT

```
24.
```

Risk: A Lack of facilities and amenity in remote areas creates opportunities for antisocial behaviours.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Significant	likely	High
Action/Strategy		
Ensure adequate infrastructure and amenity to create increased visitation and reduce the ability for antisocial behaviour.		

25.

Risk: Development of natural areas may result in environmental impacts.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Significant	Likely	High
Action/Strategy		
Ensure concept designs are sympathetic to the natural environment and environmental officers are involved in the process of design.		

CONCLUSION

- 26. The DBCA have recently informed the City they are now considering the request for a partnership with the City to investigate two sites for concept designs to be developed.
- 27. The City is cognisant that DBCA have care and control over three of the sites and for this reason, the City wishes to work closely with the DBCA, relating to opportunities for the following sites:
 - 1. The Zig Zag Scenic Drive lookout
 - 2. Whistle Pipe Gully
 - 3. Lesmurdie Falls
- The City would prioritise the Zig Zag Scenic Drive Lookout, Gooseberry Hill
 National Park and the lower reach of Whistlepipe Gully, Mundy Regional
 Park for the purpose of this joint project.
- 29. Whilst a significant site, Upper Lesmurdie Falls has had significant infrastructure upgrades in recent years and hence it is not currently the top priority notwithstanding, the need to take some car parking pressure of this site does remain. Similarly, the Lower reach of Lesmurdie Falls is viewed as a lower priority area for attention at this time.

- 30. The City is also aware of a private tourism operator proposal relating to Lesmurdie Falls that has been submitted to DBCA for consideration.
- 31. The Lions Lookout is under the control of DPLH and is therefore not subject to the recommended partnership arrangement with DBCA.
- 32. The City has undertaken extensive community engagement over the years regarding these sites and one of the key ideas and concepts that had public support was that if they were activated with infrastructure and provided amenity that increased visitation may reduce the ability for antisocial behaviours to occur. It is noted local neighbours to the sites are always concerned about amenity and are a key stakeholder to have on board and informed.
- 33. To improve amenity of the Gooseberry Hill and Mundy Regional Park sites, the City supports the recommendation from the Tourism Advisory committee to enter into a partnership with DBCA to undertake concept design investigations that identifies the type of infrastructure that could best suit these locations.
- 34. Once concept designs are prepared, the City would utilise the concepts to progress an advocacy campaign. The City has an established approach and sound record in securing advocacy funding from State and Federal Government election cycles.
- 35. The City will also develop a Kalamunda Hills Natural Attraction Strategy to further develop a vision for each of the identified sites, showing how they could be developed into tourism attractions. This strategy will also provide guidance on process and constraints for private operators wanting to utilise the sites for commercial tourism development opportunities.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM136/2022

That Council APPROVE the Chief Executive Officer to pursue a partnership with the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attraction (DBCA) to develop concept designs and costings for upgrading and developing infrastructure and amenity for the Zig Zag Scenic Drive Lookout, Gooseberry Hill National Park and the lower reach of Whistlepipe Gully, for the purpose of seeking State and Federal Government Funding.

Moved: Cr Brooke O'Donnell

Seconded: Cr Kellie Miskiewicz

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

10.6. Audit & Risk Committee 30 August 2022

10.6.1. Audit & Risk Committee Recommendations to Council

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM137/2022

That Council ADOPT the committee recommendations of reports A&R9.31, A&R9.3.2, A&R9.3.3 and A&R9.4.1, as presented, en bloc.

- Moved: Cr Geoff Stallard
- Seconded: Cr Brooke O'Donnell
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)
- 10.6.2. A&R9.3.1 External Audit Interim Findings for the year ending 30 June 2022

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM137/2022

That Council ACCEPT the findings of the Interim Audit undertaken in May 2022 for the financial year ending 30 June 2022 as shown as Confidential Attachment 2.

10.6.3. A&R9.3.2 Internal Audit Report August 2022

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM137/2022

That Council:

- 1. RECEIVE the details of the Internal Audit Review conducted during the past quarter (Attachment 1).
- 2. NOTE the details of the Audit Log Report conducted (Attachment 2).

10.6.4. A&R9.3.3 City of Kalamunda Risk Profile

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM137/2022

That Council:

- 1. ENDORSE the Risk Profile (Attachment 1).
- 2. NOTE the Strategic Risk Register (Attachment 2)
- 3. ADOPT the Integrated Risk Management Plan (Attachment 3).

10.6.5. A&R9.4.1 Council Policies - Proposed Amendments August 2022

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM137/2022

That Council:

- 1. ADOPT Council Policy Governance 3: Elected Members Entitlements, Travel and Professional Development (Attachment 1).
- 2. ADOPT Council Policy Governance 18: Appointment of Acting Chief Executive Officer (Attachment 2).

10.7.Chief Executive Officer's Performance Review Committee 20September 2022

Rhonda Hardy declared a Direct Financial Interest Item 10.7.4 Salary Review 2022. This matter relates to Ms Hardy's remuneration at the City of Kalamunda.

Rhonda Hardy declared An Interest Affecting Impartiality in relation to Items 10.7.2 CEO Performance Report for the year 2021/2022, Item 10.7.3 CEO Performance Criteria 2022/2023 Adoption of Draft, and Item 10.7.4 Salary Review 2022. These matters relate to Ms Hardy's employment contract with the City of Kalamunda.

Council agreed the CEO should stay in the meeting to answer any questions.

10.7.1. Chief Executive Officer's Performance Review Committee Recommendations to Council

RESOLVED OCM138/2022

That Council ADOPT the committee recommendations of reports CEOPR6.1.1, CEOPR6.1.2 and CEOPR6.1.3, as presented, en bloc.

Moved:	Cr Lisa Cooper	
Seconded:	Cr Dylan O'Connor	
Vote:	CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)	

10.7.2. CEOPR6.1.1 CEO Performance Report for the year 2021/2022

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority	

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM138/2022

- 1. ACCEPT without modification the Chief Executive Officer's Performance Review Assessment Report for the period July 2021 to June 2022 shown as Attachment 1.
- 2. NOTE the sound performance by the Chief Executive Officer, being rated consistently against all Key Result Areas ranging between meets expectations to exceeds expectations.

10.7.3. CEOPR6.1.2 CEO Performance Criteria 2022/2023

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM138/2022

That Council ACCEPT the proposed CEO Performance Criteria for the period July 2022 to June 2023 shown as Attachment 1.

10.7.4. CEOPR6.1.3 CEO Salary Review 2022

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

EN BLOC RECOMMENDATION OCM138/2022

That Council AGREE to allocate a 2.5% increase to the Chief Executives Officer remuneration package.

11. Motions of Which Previous Notice has been Given

11.1 Nil.

12. Questions by Members Without Notice

12.1 Nil.

13. Questions by Members of Which Due Notice has been Given

- 13.1 <u>Financial Ratio Reporting (Cr O'Connor)</u>
- Q. Is it possible for future quarterly and midyear budget reviews to include a report which updates council on the status of the financial ratios at that point in time?
- A. Taken on notice pending a report from the Manager Financial Services.

14. Urgent Business Approved by the Presiding Member or by Decision

14.1 Nil.

15. Meeting Closed to the Public

15.1 <u>RESOLVED OCM 139/2022</u>

That the meeting close to the public to consider confidential matters.

Moved: Cr Sue Bilich

Seconded: Cr Brooke O'Donnell

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

The meeting closed to the public at 7:13pm. All members of the public gallery left the meeting.

15.2 <u>RESOLVED OCM141/2022</u>

That the meeting close to the public to consider confidential matters.

Moved: Cr Sue Bilich

Seconded: Cr Lisa Cooper

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (10/0)

The meeting reopened to the public at 7:18pm. The Presiding Member read the resolutions passed behind closed doors.

Tabled Documents
 LEMC Minutes 25 August 2022 – Draft
 Public Agenda Briefing Forum Notes 13 September 2022

17. Closure

There being no further business, the Presiding Member declared the Meeting closed at 7:18pm.

I confirm these Minutes to be a true and accurate record of the proceedings of this Council.

Signed: _____

Presiding Member

Dated this _____ day of _____ 2022.